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EORERDRD

This report was preparcd to satisfy the research needs as set
forth in Historicul Mesource Study Proposal SL{Ellis Island)-H-2,
Structural Study and Evaluation of the U.S. Ferryboat—FEilzs Laland,
This study is designed to provide information regarding the construc-
tien and histery of £1I{s fsland, For 50 years Ellis Igland was inti-
mately associated with the Ellis lsland story.

A number of people have assisted with the preparation ef this
report. Thanks are due W. Earl Geoghegan of the Smithsonian Insti-
tution for locating the lines and specifications of the vessel; ta
Hardee Allen and Uonald Mosholder of the Natieomal Archives for sug-
gesting sources and taking a keen intercst in the project; to Georpe
Thomas of the Immigration and Naturalization Service for making avail-
allle the mountains of materilal found in that agency's files; to Dr.
Georpe Svejda for suggesting sources and sharing his knowledge of the
history of immigration; to Frank Sarles for proof-reading the final
draft; and to Mrs. Lucy Wheeler for typing the munuscript, for keen
interest shown, and her cditorial suggestions.

E.C.B.

Washington, D0. C.
May 23, 1865
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CHAPTER 1

Harlan & Hollingsworth Build a Steel Hull Ferryboat

In the years following the formal opening of the United States
Inmigration Station at Fllis Island on .January 1, 1892, transnorta-
tion between the station and the Battery, on Manhattan [sland, was
"performed by an indiffercnt class of vessel.” This continued to
he the situation for scveral vears, although no ferry in the harbor
performed "more arduous work." Until Johm G. fferiisle was chartcered,
the oldest and most "worn-out types of steam vessels were used” to
transport employees of the Immigration and Marine Hospital Services
back and forth to work on [llis Island and to land newly admitted
immigrants in the country that was to be their home.l

When Commissioner-General of lmmigration Frank Sargent prepared
a bodget to be submitted to the 57th Congress, it was determined to
include a request for $110,000 to construct a ferrvboat to be owned

and eperated by the Immigration Service, This vessel, if Congress

went along with the proposal, would replace Jokn L. Carlizle, The

2d Session of the 37th Congress treated the Ellis Tsland Immigration

1. *he Nautical Gasstts, Febwruary L, 1904, p. 33,



Station liberally. Besides sppropriating $110,000 for a new steel
hulled ferryboat, it voted $150,000 for the creation of a2 'mew island"
and $100,000 fer the extension of the hospital.E

The contract for construction of the {ferryboat was awarded by
the Immigration Bureau to Harlan § Hollingsworth Company of Wilming-
ton, Uelaware, on July 1, 1503. Harlan § Hollingsworth's bid of
91,715 did not include "certain electrical and octher equipment, esti-
mated to cost about $6,000 additiunal.”3 Learning of this develop-
ment, the most influential trade journal in the shipbuilding field,
The Hautical Gzzette, informed its subscribers on February 4, 1904,
that the Bllis lsland-Battery route would scon “be covered by a med-
ern, up-to-datc craft, of the double screow type+“h

Plans and specifications for a "Screw Two-Deck Steel Hull Ferry
Boat" werc forwarded to Harlan § llollingsworth by William Williams,
United States Commissioner of Immigration at the Port of New York.
(Lopies of plans and specifications for the vessel accompany this
report., Bethlehem Steel, who purchased Harlan §& Hellingsworth in
1904, has been contacted in an effort to secure the plans, but, after

searching their files, they report the plans no longer exist.)

2. Annucl Report of the Commiasioner-General of Immigration
for ihe Figeal Year Fndsd June 30, 1993 (Washingion, 1903}, po. BY-TO.

2, Ibid.; Nautical Gasetfs, Aug. 6, 1903, o. T3,

h. HNautical Gazetie, Feb. L, 1904, p. 33,



In external appearance the new ferryboat would resemble the
Jersey Central propellers Mguch Chunk and Egatcr, although she would
not be as large. (An outboard profile of the craft supplements this
study.} ler interior design would be "quite unlike any ferryboat
yvet built." Inasmuch as the Ellis Island ferryboats were not called
ta carry teams, the entire lower deck could be used for passengers
and baggage. Thus her maindeck cabin would occupy the entire hnu=e,
from guard to guard, except for a small center light well over the
engine, and through which the funnel was to protrude. The statrs to

the upperdeck were also to be located at this peint. Ong one side

would be the men's toilet and a sick bay, and on the other the women's

toilet. GHousing on the upperdeck would be given over "entirely to
4 cabin for employces" and to the Uommissioner's Cabin, as well as
the pilothouses. ‘There were no staterooms. Indeed, the only berths
would be ejght for the crew, located in the hr.:-ln:l,5

The steel hull was to be divided into six compartments by five
watertight bulkheads. The keelson was to consist of a continuonus
vertical platc, 42 inches deep, of 17 1/2-pound material, the butts
having double straps treble-riveted. At the same time, the keelson
was to extend & ijnches below the hase, and two side bars, 6 inches

deep and 30 pounds per square foot, together with the lower cdges of

5. Ikid.



the two garboard strakes, would form the outer keel. There was to

be a double bottom 36 inches deep at the center, to extend between

the collision bulkheads, and which could hold 15,000 gallons of

fresh water, the ends being made into a feed tank for boiler use by
fitting a water-tight door. The keelson would be connected te the
double bottom plating (10-pound per square foot) by 4 x 3-inch x 8-
pound angle. Frames would be 3 1/2 x 3-inch by 7.9-pound per foot
plain angles, spaced 24 inches between centers, between collision
bulkheads, and beyond these the spacing would be 15 inches. Frames

in the double hottom would be 2 172 x 2 1/2-inch x 5. 1-pound angles,
and the reverse bars were to be 2 1/2 x 2 1/2 X 5,1-pound bhars extend-
ing along the top of floors te the deck on alternate frames and to a
distance of six inches beyond the bilge keeclson on intermediate frames,
Under the engines and boilers the reverse frames were to be doubled,
Floor plates would be 36 inches deep and 15-pound weight in way of
double bottom, except under the engines und boilers the weight was to
be 18 pounds. The depth of the floor plates was to be increased at
the ends of the vessel, and the floors to be connected to the center
keelson by double angles, 3 x 3-inch x 7.2-pound, and to the double
bottom and marginal plates by single 2 1/2 x 2 1/2-inch x 5. 1-pound
angles. There would be four belt frames on each side of the craft,

14 inches wide by 12 1/2-pound weight, faced with double 2 1/2 x 2 1/2-

inch by 5.1-pound ungles, The rudder posts were to be 6 x 3 1/2-inch



of cast steel, and the end posts & x 3-inch, and the sternposts & X
4 inches. These posts were to be of cast steel. Hand and steam-
powered stecring gear would be provided at each end of the crafti6

The new ferryboat's deck beams were to be 5 x 3-inch x 11.2-
pound on each frame, being connected to frames by gusset plutes from
guard to guard, collared where they passed through the sheer strake,
The sister keelson, bilge keelson, and side stringers would be vor-
posed each of double 4 x 3-inch by 8-pound angles riveted back to
back., Shell plating of the hull was to be arranged inside and out
alternately, being single riveted in the main, except the sheer to
the sides and the purboard to bottom being double. The butts of
shell plates were to be lapped and treble riveted. The sheer and
garboard strakes, and waterline strakes, for a distance of 100 fcet
amidships, were to be of 17 1/2-pound material, while the side, hilpe,
and bottom strakes would be lS—pQund.T

As the ferryboat could be expected to encounter ice fleoecs, the
waterline strakes at the bows were to be composed of plates of 20-
pound weight for every square foot. The five water-tight bulkheads,
all to be built of l0-pound plate, stiffened vertically by 3 1/2 x
3-inch x 7.9-pound angles, would be spaced 24 inches. On the opposite

side the hgrizontal stiffeners were to be of angles of similar size,

t, Tk

[ n

g, T. fbvid.




spaced 48 inches. There would be a hinged water-tight door in each
pulkhead, while the engine foundations were to be built wp of 25-
pound plating. The coal bunkers would have a capacity of about 20
tons, and would be filled from the maindeck through two 17-inch
scutties. The center house, through which light and air would be
admjtted into the machinrery space, would be "built of steel, in the
approved modern fashion." Plating would be of 6- and 3-pound weight.
4 steel bulkhead would divide the engine- and boiler-room, between
the main- and Eabindecks.EI

The vessel would be powered by a "'compound surface-condensing
engine, having cylinders 11 and 36 in. in diameter, by 24-in. streoke."
The high-pressure cylinder was to have a piston valve, and the low-
pressure cylinder a double-port slide valve, Stevenson's link type
of gear valve would be fitted, while the crank shafts would be the
built-up type. The condenser was to contaln 950 square feet of con-
densing surface, being rectangular in shape and of cast iron. There
would be onc centrifugal circulating pump, one vertical twin-cylinder
air pump, one vertical duplex brass-lined feed pump, one horizental
duplex brass-lined fire pump, and one horizontal duplex sanitary-pump.
The engine would be capable of 120 revolutions per minute, with a

horsepower of about 450.7

£, Ibid., p. b7. 9. Ieid.




Iwo single-ended Scotch boilers, each 10 feet in diamcter by
12 feet in length,would provide steam at 135 pounds nressure. There

woluld be two furnaces to each boiler. Total grate surface would be

82 sgquarc fecet and the total heating surface 2280 square feet.lCI

The joiner work was to be plain but serviceable. Decking would
be of Oregon pine, the rails of white oak, together with the stanchions,
and fenders of vellow pine. On the maindeck the outside of the cab.u
wias to be staved with white pine to the hsight of the rail, while
above this point the white pine was to run fore and uft. Inside, the
larpe maindeck cabin was to be finished with large burlap panels,with
stiles, rails, and woulding of cak. The glazing would be of the best
vamerican double-thick glass." The Commissioner's Cabin would be fin-
ished in similar fashion, and was to contain an upholstered locker
seat, 2 swinging table of cak, in addition “to the usual outfit of
chairs, etc.” Secats in the main and upper cabins would be of slotted
oak, while the floors were to be covered with interlocking rubber
tiliﬂlg,:'1

The ferrvboat would be heated by steam, with iron pipes in
the main cabin, radiator in the Commissioner's (abin, while in the

pilothouses there would be coils of brass pipe.”

2, Toid. 11. Ivid.; Fvery Evening, Wilmdngton, Dei., March 1Y,
Ji,
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The new ferryboat's general dimensions would be;

Length over 811 . . + + + + + = +« +» .« . 160 feer

Length between perpendiculars , . . . . 154 feet

Beam . . . & 4 s v v e e e e s e x . . 37 feet

Beam over guards . » + » « + « &+ + o« o« . 45 feet

Depth of hold, at center . . . . . . . . 15 feer, 3 inches
Draft of water . . . . . . . .+ + . . - 9 feer 3 inches

Displacement . . + « + & & v & = « o 4 ;560 tons~3

Construction was started on the vessel in August. Harlan 4
Hollingsworth subcontracted construction of the single-ended Scotch
boilers to H. § H. Cov of Wilmington, Om October &, 1903, Commiscioner-
General Sargent asked H, & ll. Coy to furnish the Burcau of Immigration
with "plans for the boilers which vou are constructing for use in the
steel ferryboat to ply between Ellis Island and New Ycrk.”lh The blue-
prints were duly forwarded, and their receipt ucknowledged by the Com-
missigner-General on Outober 9,12 Meanwhile, George Uhler, Supervis-
ing Inspector-General of the Steamboat Inspection Service, had been
ordered to Wilmingtom to inspect the materials of which the bolilers

were to be made.16

13. Vautical Gazette, Teb., W, L1004, g, 33,

1, Commissioner-Genersl Lo H.& H. Coy, Cet. &, 1903, Na, RS,
Ltrs, Serni, Immigration Burescz.  Some time between October and March,
the Immigration Service determined an = name for the ferryboat under
construction at Harlan % Hollingeworth. She would be designated Elids
Island, after 4he Hew Yorx Immigration Station.

1%, Commissioner-Ceneral to M, & H, Coy, Oct, 9, 1903, Netianel
Archives, Record group 85, Ltrs, Sent, Immigration Bureau.

16. Commissioner-Gensral to Uller, Oct. & & 7, 1903, ¥A, R385,
Jtrs. Sent, Imnigraiicn Dureau.




Inspector Uhler visited Wilmingten in the second week of October,
and, after satisfying himself that the materials were of high quality,
he gave H. & Il. Coy the signal to go ahead.

The hull and superstructure had been completed by early March,
and plans were made by the Immigration Service and Harlan § Hollings-
worth for a gala launching on Saturday, March 19, A large number of
invitations were mailed to influential persons, and numeTous aciepi-
BNCES Were received, ' | Om the day of the festivities, the Wilmingtom
Esery Evening announced, "The handsome new ferryboat, Filis Taland

will he launched this afterncon at the shipyards of Harlan & Hollings-

By the designated hour, a large crowd, along with the distinguished
guests, had assembled at the ways on which the ferryboat rested. The

guests had made their way from the third story of the Harian § Hollings-

17. FHpery Evertng, Wilmington, Del., March 19, 1004, Arcentances
were received from: Secretary of Commerce & Lzbor Geoorge B, Corlelyou;
Assislent Secretary .. 0. Murray; Commissicner of Yavigation B, T. Cham-
terlaing Supsrvising Inspector-General, Stearboat Inspection Service,
Gecrge iThler; the Delaware Urited States Jenstars T, iaisler Ball arnd
J. Frank pllec; Guartermasier Ceneral C, F. Hurphareys; Jommissioner of
Ismigration ¥. P. Sargenil, Commissioner of Immigratien at Baltirere
L. T, Weis; James Swmith, Jr., Zeceiver,U. S. Skipbuilding Co.; Li. Comdr.
slfred B, Fry, U, . L.; Commissioncer of Immigratlon, Fllis ZIsiand, Wil-
iiam Williams=; J. S. Bogers, Commissioner of Tmmigration at Philadelphisg
Flimy Fisk, Stuyvesant Fish, William 3. Meadoo, Tharles Fairchild, W, W.
Les, Georpe ©. 2colds, George Shelden, C. W. Westmore, Thomss F. FEyan, Max
Fathan, <can F. Borne, ard W. J. Curtis of Mow York; and Jeorge Gray,

indrey Gray, w. 5. Hilles, and J. Frank Ball of Wilmington.

15, Ibid.



worth office building, where they had been entertained at an informal
tuncheon by Company President David C. Reid. Miss Mabel Sargent, daugh-
ter of Commissioner-General Frank Sargent of the Immigration Service,
would christen Fllfs Taland, Along with Secretary of Commerce and labor
George B. Cortelyou and President Reid, Miss Sargent toeok position at
the bew York end of the craft. After appropriate ceremonies, at 2:15
v'clock she broke a bottle of champagne on the bow, and the "new und
handsome ferryhoat took her maiden plunge into Christiana River.' A

tug came alongside and pushed Eiids Iziand into position apainst a
wharf, Here she would be moored, while her machimery wus installed

L addition, all necessary

and "the finishing touches put to her,
nautical imstruments, two compasses, small boats, life preservers,
running lights, deck fittings, stc., had teo be furnished. <"

Although there had been delays, #llis Island was nearly ready to
put to sea by the end of April. On April 28 Uommissiomer-fieneral Sar-

gent requested larlan & Hellingsworth to adyise us "immediately as to

the date and hour when it is proposed te have the trial trip of the

19, Ibid., March 21, i%0L; New Yerk Pimes, April 18, 1%5L, 1In
April 1354 a display case holding the remains of the champagne boille
bung in the wood-paneled cabin of FlIis Island, The cork and neck
wers irtact, but By 1954, the red, white, and Llue wrapping had faded.

20, Epery Evening, March 19, 1904,

1a



L]

Eilis Ieland ferryboat at Wilmingtom.," 1 Harlan & Hollingsworth

replied that the trial run of Ellis Island would take place at Il a.m.
on May 4,22 Upon teceipt of this information, Secretary of Commerce
and Labor Cortelyou issued orders for Supervising Inspector-General
Uhler to be present at the trial run and "to take the necessary steps
to have an inspection made of the boilers and machincr}r."23

Mcanwhile, last minute preparations were rushed at the shipyard.
Tt wuas announced on Monday, May 2, that Ellis Teland would leave the
wharves on Wednesduy in charge of Capt. Thomas Wood, with (encral Man-
ager Lockhard supervising, On her arrival at New York, the ferrybest
would be turned over to officialsof the lmmigraticn Service.z

At the designated hour on Wednesday, May 4, #lits Isiand pulled

away from the wharf. Aboard the big ferryboat, in addition te the

crew were: Chief Engineer William M. Foist, who had superintended

91 . Commissioper-Gereral to Harlsn & Hollingsworth, April 28,
190h, #A, RGES, Ltrs. Seat, Immigration Bureau,

29, Commissicner—General to Harlar & Sollingsworth, May 2, 1904, HA
A4, BGAY, Immigration Bureau, Commissioner-General Cargent planned to
te present at the trial run, preovided there were no uncxpected devel-
opments Ghat amight keep him in Washington.

23, Cortelyou to Uhler, May 3, 1904, NA, RGE%, Lirs., Sent, Immi-
gration Buresau.

2h . Fuery Evening, Yoy 2, 1906,




the construction of the vessel for the Bureau of Immigration, Inspector-
General Uhler of Washingten, [, C., and William B, Pritchett, Edward
Genn, E. M. Cook, and J, M, Mulrooney of Wilmington.‘E Chuffing into
the Delaware River, the vesgsel headed for the bay. After an uneventful
run up the Jersey Coast, klliz I'siand entered New York Harbor on the
Sth, A reporter for the New York Times was present on the Battery to
greet the wvessel, and he informed his readers that the newcomer would
take the place of Jeim §. Corlisle, which would be employed horeafter
to transport horses between the Aqueduct, Morris Park, and the Graves-
end Ruce Tracks.
The correspondent observed that

the new boat, which cost %$105,000, is 160 feet lomg

and 45 feet wide, and has two decksz, the lower being

fitted for the accommodation of abput 1,000 immigrants,

while the upper 1s to be used by officials and passen-

gers from Few York. A hospltal with room for twelve

beds on wheels Is a feature of the boat, and there is

also a padded cell for the reception of any violent

insane immigrants.Zv

On Saturday, May 8, Commissioner Williams formally “introduced

the double end screw ferryboat Ellis Jgland to the harbor." Since

taking office in April 1%0Z, Williams had been "endeavering to secure

25, Ibild., May 6, 190k,

26, New York Times, May 0, 1G0L.
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proper transfer facilities between the Immigration depot and Man-
hattan," s¢ he was especially gratified by the arrival of the new

steel hull ferryboat. At noon a number of ladies and gentlemen

boarded the tug H. B. Chamberlain and were taken over to Cllis Island,
where they hoarded the new craft.Z| After a brief inspection, Pilot
John J. Reilly calied for the deckhands to cast off, and Eilis foland
pulled cut of the slip and headed up the North River, giving puests

a delightful sail te a point neat Hastings, where she turncd arpund.
The return trip was made against a strong headwiad, but "she came

along at a good clip, landing the guests in good season at the island.”
Befare the pucsts returned to Manhattan aboard H. £, chamberilain,
Comissioner Williams provided them "with an excellent luncheon, which,
owing to bracing spring air, was fully a]:npreciated,"EEI

Mounwhile, Supervising Inspector-General Uhler had prepared and

forwnrded his report on the trail run to the Secretary of Commercc and

ot Newtisgl Gaszeite, May 12, 19Ch, ». 272. Among the guests were:
Secrctary of Commerce & Labor Cortelyou; Commissioneredencral Sargent;
Supervising inspector-General Uhler: Supervising Frgineer of Federal
Buildings &. B. Fryve: Surgeor-General Walter Wyman and Dr. Georges W.
Storner, U. S. Marine Hospital Sérvice; Captain Jeweomb =nd Tit, H.
Yotzschmer, U. 5. Hevehuc Marire; Charles J, Dumas, of Messrs. Hudgivs
% Zumas; Frank Hobinscn, Secrotary to the Commizsion of Immigraticn;
along with o number of others.

28, Twid. President Reid of Harlan & Hellingsworth made the trip

Fal

and "ecprefully looked after workings ol the boat, "




Labor. After carefully noting the contents, the report was mailed to
Comnissioner Williams, with instructions “to follow the suggestions
therein made,""” Although a diligent search of Record Group 85 and the
files at the Immigration and Naturalization Service was made, it has
been impossible to locate a copy of Uhler's report of May 5, 1304.
Before the government could make final payment to Harlan §
liollingsworth for construction of £L278 Isluvd one problem had to be
resolved--the question of mitigating the penalty for failure to com-
plete the ferryboat by the date specified in the contract.-C Harlan
§ Hollingsworth, in their defense, asked a waiver of thc penalty clause,
as the delays had been "caused Dy circumstances beyond the contrel of
the contractor,” Commissioner Williams was agreeable to the Secretary
granting the waiver, because, as he peointed out, even had the vessel
been delivered within the contract period, it would have been impos-
sible to have put her in operation immediately, as the dredging of
the approaches to the Ellis Island slip, to accommodate her decper

33

draft, was not completed until the first week of June, Secretary

3. Secrctary of Commerce &k Labor te Ukler, May &, 190k, A RGHS,
itrs. Sent, Immigration Bureau. A search of RG85 and the files of 1 &
LY has failed to turn v the lstiter and Uhler's reveort on the trial run
af Flilis Ialemd.

40, Commissioner-General to Harlan & Eollingsworth, Jure 6, 1904,
Lers. Scnt, Burean of Immigration.

11. Acting Secretary to Esrlan & Hollingswortk, dJune 7, 190k, ¥NA,
g g

14



Cortelyou was satisfied by the argument presented, and he, in accord-
ance with Paragraph 6 of the contract, ordered the retained percentage
of the contract price paid to the shipbuilders.

It was the end of the first week of June 1904, before ¥ilis
Island took over the route from Ellis Island to the Battery. At
the same time, her predecessor, John O. Cariiele, was sent to Tiet-
jen & Lang's drydock for painting and nverhauling.3E

Immigrants who reached New York in steerage at this Time were
disembarked from ship at the company's pier into barges and onto ves-
sels like Geveral Putnam and taken teo Ellis Island for examination and
processing. The steamboat companies provided the barges and tugs used
to transport the steerage passengers from the pier to Ellis Island.
After the immigrants had been cleared for admission, they boarded

Filis Fzlarnd for the run across the harbor to Manhattan Jsland,

#3585, Ltrs, Seat, Immigrztion Bureau. A search of Record Group €5 and
the files of I & NS has failed to turn up the letter from Harlen &
ollingsworth in which they ask for = walver and ¢ited the reascns it
should be given.

32, Nawtical Gazette, June 12, 19Ch,

15




CiIAPTER 11

Maintenance of the Craft, 1904-1918

Although she was a new vessel and had a steel hull, the Bureau
of Immigration was required by regulations of the Steamboat Inspection
Servive to drydock EIlis Island twice a year to have her hull scaled
and painted, and her machinery checked. During the 28-month peried
ending on October 31, 1906, £iliz Island was in drydock for "oputside
painting and machine rcpairs five times," or a total of 13 days,
There had been expended on the craft for machinery repairs and paint-
ing $&, 213,36, the major portion being charged to repairs. A con-
siderable percentage of this sum might have been saved had It been
possible "to lay the boat vp immediately upon the discovery of a bro-
ken propeller or other derangement of mechanism aboard." While £iltis
Island was in drydock, it was necessary for the Immigration Service
1o rent a2 substitute beat te provide transportation over the route
betwaen Ellis Island and the Hattery.l

Eliiz Igland, during the next eight years, continued to be taken

into drydock bianpually, in the spring and the fall, te have her hull

1. Howell to Watchorsz, Get. 31, 1906, 34, UG89, File 51,540,
Eobert Watchorn in October 1906 was Commissioner of [mmipgration et
Ellis Islsnpnd.
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scaled and paintzd, aad adjustments made to her machinery. On otherx
occazions emergency trips had to be madc to the drydock. 1n May
1908 one of these runs was made, when one of the boat's rudder stocks
was broken. Tive months later, another trip to the dryvdock was made
to repair Filis Island’s reversing gear, and in October the craft was
laid-up while a broken rudder and loose piston rod were rel;:aired.2

In 1909 the ferryboat was laid-up briefly in February anu again
in September while a broken propeller was replaced. In February the
propeller had been damaged, when the vessel, as she made a run im &
pea-soup-like fog, crashed inte the piles near the Battery slip. The
cost of replacing a prepeller was $2DD.3 The ensuing 24 months saw
Fliie Islawd laid-up twice, to have new propellers installed. By
November 1911 the cost of replacing a propeller had increased by 50

percent to §305, Substitute Doats were hired by the Immigration Bur-

I
gau for from $65 to 375 per duy.L

2. Tllis Island "Ferry" Card Index, J4, RG8%. The cerd index, a

ecpy of which is found in this report, lists File dumbers and corre-
spcndence found therein dealing with Eilis Teland, Unforiunetely,
rany of these files cannot be locsted in Record Group 85, Mr. George
“tonas of Immigraticon and Haturalization Scrvice iz of the opinian
that the missing files Leve been destraoyed, Among the vesscls en-
gaged as subslitutes for EfizZs Tsland in 19C8 were: Zeveral Puinam
and Heymaw Caswell.

3. Ibid.

L, Ikid.
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In February 1900 James Shewan & Son was paid $1,250 for scal-
ing and painting the hull, and adjusting the machinery on the craft's
semiannual trip to drydeck. When Commissioner Roberti Watchomm checked
hiz records he found that in Fiscal Year 1910 it had cost §27,013.77
tu operate Flli{a Island--$6,529.90 for maintenance and $20,483,.87 for
salaries for the 27 men assipned to keep the vessel operating 18 hours
a day. During the year, the pay of deckhands had been raised from
450 to $75 per munth.5

Damage to the railing at the Ellis Island end of the crafr led
ta 1 serious accident in 1913, resulting in the death of two persons.
while Ellis Island was docked at the Barge Office, the railing at that
end of the vessel had been smashed by boats of the McAllister Co. back-
ing into it. The railing was replaced, but unknown to the officials
the work was executed in a shoddy fashion, On Tuesday, September 2,
Eilie Ioiund, with Pilot Edward A, McCiellam at the wheel, pulled out
of the Ellis Island slip at 5:30 p.m. Aboard the ferryboat, in addi-
tian to the crew, werc about 150 passengers. About 50 of these were
on the £71is Ieland fantail, and unwittingly a number leamed against

the rail us they talked. As the vesscel chugged by Governor's Istand,

5. Thig.; Ascting Commissioner to Commissioner-General, July 11,
1913, 1 & NS, File 56,C26/19h. The crew,which was divided in%o two
watches, consisted of: 2 pilots, 3 quartermasters, 12 deckhands {in-
zluding twe dockmen), 1 assistant enpginesr, 2 ollers, and & firemen.
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the rail, without warning, gave way and precipitated five menr intc

the river, One of the men, Michael Gumb, an employvee of the Stanley
Hoisting Machine Co., was struck by the propeller and killed instantly.
Four others, all employees of the Immigration Service (Inspectors
Albert Forster, Charles Walde, and O'Neil, and Interpreter Ernest
Stoltzenberg) fought their way to the surface.

Meanwhile, the cry, "Man Overboard!" had been raised. Filot
McClellan was unable to stop and reverse the boat immediately, as a
Standard 0il Corporation tug with a barge was bearing down rapidly.

By the time McClellan had turned #li{s Feland about, four tughboats

had arrived on the scene, and the four men were pulled from the water.
Efforts to revive Inspector Waldo were futile, however. Several days
were to pass before the body of Gumb, badly mutilated, was recovered.

The Immigration Service being judged at fault, privute bills
were enacted by the Congress granting $1,500 each to the next of kin
of Chuarles Waldo and Michael Gumb, who had lost their lives by drown-
ing, "having fallen overboard when a defective fantail rail pave way.“T

With the outbreak of World War 1 at the end of July 1914, the

great tide of immigration slackened., The impact of the war was felt

. Inquiry Concerning Accident Aboard Filis Island on 5:30 Yrip,
Pussday , Sept. 9, 1913, NA, RGE5, File 53, ER0=216,

7. UE 10167 and SShi#, €34 Congress, March 3, 1515, Ka, RGAE,
File 53, 620-216,
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immediately at Ellis Island, and was reflected statistically in the
vears that followed. In Fiscal Year 1914, the last full vear of
migration, 1,218,480 immigrant aliens were admitted to the United
States, 878,052 of them through the port of MNew York, 1In Fiscal Year
1915 there were only 326,700 admissions, 178,416 of them through New
York. Immigration had been reduced about 75 percent in a single year.
As war continued, the numbers diminished, the low point being reached
in 1918, when only 28,867 immigrant aliens entered the port of New
‘fork.B

Though the number of passengers were greatly reduced, Eiiis Taland
continued to log the same number of miles per week, as she had prior
to the war. In January 1916 Filie fzland ran afoul a submerged object,
breaking one of her propellers, damaging a rudder, and wrecking the
tail shaft. Proposals were accordingly invited for her repair.

James Shewan & Son, Inc., was low bidder, and on January 15 agreed
to drydock £101g Teland and make the following repairs: (a) remove
broken propeller wheel and furnish and install a new one of the same
dimensions; (h) furnish and install a new rubber, including new bolts,

brass bushings, and guadrant bolts; and (c} furnish and install a new

£, Themas M. Pitkin, "A Feport oo Ellis Island as an Immigrant
Nepot, 1890-1954" [unpublished report, 1266) p. 121, National Park
Servire, files QAEF,
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tail shaft. Repairs were to be completed within 16 working days, for
which the government was to pay the contractor $2,494.9

While the ferrvbcat was drydocked at James Shewan § Son, it was
discovered that additional work was required, These extras, for which
the contractor was to be paid an additional $836.30, included: [(a) new
studs to secure the palm; (b) the replacement of deck casting which
held the rudder pin to the damaged rudder; (c¢) the straightening o
the tail shaft and refitting of the steering bearings; and (d) for
furnishing and fitting one new propeller wheel, 1V

James Shewan § Son had Eliis Tslamd repaired and back in opera-
tion before the end of January. Nothing out of the ordinury occurred
until May 10, when the vessel on her 8:20 a.m. trip from New York

struck a submerged log and broke her prupeller.ll

3, Agreement, dated san. 153, 2916, between James Shewan & Son,
ard tne United States of fmerica, No, RGES, File 53892/1-A. James
“hewan & Son, Inc., was Jocated at the Toot of 27th Stroet, Brooklyn,
Jew York,

1. fcting Seeretary to Commissioner of Zmmigration, April 25, 1910,
Uowe to Commissioner—General, Mey 31 and Aug. 31, 1916, Ma, RGS5, File
54852/1-A, To justify this expense, it was peinted out Lhat when the
vessel was drydocked, it was found that the bolts hetween "the palm of
radider stoek znd the rudder were loose and the guadrant” which governed
the steering from that end of the craft nad sagged.

11. Uhl to Comzissioner-Seneral, May 13, 1916, ¥&, RGES, File 353,
BOZ/1-A.

fu
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Proposals were immediately invited for effecting repairs. The
only bid received was from James Shewan § Son, who would place Ellis
Tsignd in drydock, remove the broken wheel, and replace it with a
new one of the same dimensions. The government would be charged
$475 for this work, which would be completed within 24 hours of the
time the craft was delivered to the 27th Street Drydock.lz

Arrangements were made to hire a substitute boat from the John E,
Moore Co. for $100 per day, while Filie Talond was in drydock. E{lis
Island was turned over to James Shewan & Son 4t noon on May 1513 The
contractors were as pgood as their bond, and Rilds fsland was back
in gperation by noon the next day.

On July 30, 1916, occurred a series of terrific explosions at
Black Tom Wharf, on the New Jersey shore, less than one mile from Ellis
Island, Some of the flaming barges were carried by a rising tide and
a west wind over to Ellis Tsland, where they set fire to the cribbing
of the seawall, Heroic tugboat crews lashed onto them and towed them
away before they cxploded, and the station escaped complete destruction,
The immigrants in the detention gquarters panicked, but they werc fin-

ally calmed and cmbarked on Eflis Island and taken to the Barge Office.

12, John L. Curley o Unl, ¥Msy 12, 1916, HA, RCES, File 53, oo f1-h,
Turley was general panager for James Shewsn & Son.

13, Howe to Commissioner-Seneral, My 31, 1916, KA, RGB3, File 53,
BaRf1l-i.
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Although there were more than 600 people cn the island, not a life was
lost and there were no serious injuries.lh

Funds having been allotted for overhauling £llts Island, the Com-
missioner of Immigration advertised in the principal New York daily
newspapers on November 8, 1916, that proposals would be received at
his office until 2:30 p.m,, on the 16th, for overhauling the ferry-
boat, As there were 'no docking plans in existence," bidders would have
to visit the craft, "inform themselves of all governing conditions,
take their own measurements if any are required, and include in their
estimate, all items of labor und materials required.” One drawing
had been prepared, under the direction of Chief Engineer Alfred B.
Fry, designated “Alteration Details,” and dated September 25, 13516.
{ A copy of this drawing is found in this report,) General character
of the deotail work was shown on this drawing, but minor modifications
could be made with approval of Chief Engincer Fry.15

The statement that there were "no docking plans in existence"

indicatces that in 1916 the Immigration Service did net have detailed

construction plans of the ferryboat,

1. Pitkin, "Ellis Tsland as an Imnigrarct Station,” pp. 133-13h.

1%, Specificaticn for all Lelor and Materials Feguired for Dock-
ing, Alterations, ard Machine hepairs on the teel Hull Ferrybeat "Zllis
7sland,” of the U, 3, Zmmigrant Staticn, =Z11is Island, H. Y. H., a4,
#3053, File 520597/ 1-h.
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When Commissioner Frederic C. Howe opened and abstracted the bids,
he found that there was only one for overhauling the vessel. James

Shewan & Son had bid $17,500 for this work. Five proposals had been

received for painting the wvessel They were:

Hame & Bldder Amt. of Bid Time for Completion
Leonard HMiller & Co. 54,825 26 working deays
Thomas J. Cuttls 4,868 34 working days
Holzapfels' American 4,975 30 working days
Composition Co.

4lex, E. Sheldon 4,995 29 working days

A, H. Canrobert Co. 5,100 2% werking days

The lowest bid for painting added to the propesal for alterations
came to a figure of $22,725. Lxperience demonstrated that whenever
Eilis Island was placed in drydock, extras of about 5 percent of the
original bid were found. The available balance for concrating the
boat in Fiscal Year 1917 was $42,000, and with seven months te go,
Commissioner Howe was of the opinion that he could net cbligate §30,000
for repair of Ellis Tsland unless the Department was willing te materi-
ally boost the allotment.lE
As this was unlikely, Assistant Commissioner Byren Il Uhl recom-

mended that the proposals be rejected, and that Chief Engineer Fry be

allowed To revise them drastically, "“so that nothing except the abso-

15, Trederic Hewe nad replaced Watchorn as Commissioner of Immi-
sration for the Port cf Kew York in 191k,
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lutely necessary items shall be covered, and solicit new proposals.™
The original specifications (copies of which accompany this report},
on which the prospective contractors had figured their proposals, con-
tained nothing that was not highly desirable. It would only be good
business to have all the work done at one time, since to neglect it for
six or eight months would lead to additional deterioration and increase
the ultimate cost, If the Commissioner-General agreed with tnis logic
and was prepared to increase the allotment, the hids of James Shewan
% Son and Leonard Miller § Co. were to be aCCEpted.lT

The Commissioner-Ceneral was unable to get the allotment increased,
and Assistant Secretary of Labor Louis F. Fost telegraphed Uhl "to
reject all proposals, and, after revising the specifications, to solic-
it new Dnes.”l8

Chief Engineer Fry, in seeing that the specifications were altercd,
laid down guide lines: [a) all painting was to be eliminated, except
for the steel hull; and (B) to reduce the items of "machine ropairs to
the work absolutely necessary, anﬁ permit the other repairs of this
nature {to] carry over to July 1817, when it may be possible te scoure

. . 1
a lower price by docking the craft at the Brooklyn Mavy Yard." ?

17. Jhl Lo Commissicner-General, Rov. 20, 1916, HA, GBS, Tile 53852/1-A.
18, Ppst 4o URl, Kov. 21, 1216, HA, RGBS, File 535892/1-A.

10, Fry to Cormiesioner of Immigration, Wew. 23, 1916, NA, CRES,
rile 23E97/1-A.
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The revised specifications (see Appendix B) deleted all refer-
ences to the alterations proposed originally and shown on the plan

dated Scptember 25, 1916,ED

Five propesals submitted, in accordance
with revised specifications, were opened at 2:30 p.m. on December 4.
Acting Commissioner Uhl, on abstracting the five bids, found thut
the Brooklyn Mavy Yard had submitted the low preoposal. The KNavy
Yard people were willing to do the work required for $3,576, and to
have it completed in 15 working days.gl Assistant Sceretary Tost

un December ¢ authorized Yhl to accept the proposal of the frooklyn
Navy Yard for "repairing and painting the ferrybeat Ellis Island

for $3,576, plus five cents per square feoot for scaling vesael+“2

khen the people from the Wavy Yard examined Ellis fsland, they

found that certain extras would be involved, If the vessel were (o

29. Specificalions for all labor and meterials requirec for dock-
irg, clegning, painting and machine repairs on the steel hull ferry-
boat "Ellis [sland,” of the U.S5. Immigrant Staticn, FEilis Island,
4,¥.H., KA, RGAS, File 53852/1-A.

21. Ul ta Commissioner—Seneral, Dec. 5, 19:6, M4, R385, File 53892/1-A.
Dther bids submitted were:

K arme Amt., Bid Completion Time
Theo. Smith & Son Co. § E,ﬁ?ﬂ 3 warking days
James Shewan & Son 12,790 20 working deys
Jus, Tregerthen & Sors 13,979 24 working days
Jokn W, Scllivan Jo. 1L, 250 &% working days

22, Fost to Uhl, Dec, 6, 1916, NA, BGB%, Tile 43892/1-4.
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be scaled, it would be necessary to remove the oak chafing strip of
the guard rail, renew, and secure it., In addition, it was likely that
the guard rail would have to be replaced, It was estimated that the
painting and scaling would cost $682.50, and the remeval and restora-
tion of the chafing strip, another $162. Uhl's request for funds for
the extra work was approved on December 21.%3

During the 15-day period that £liiz Islend was in dryvdochk tor

repairs, the ferryboat Xemsburg, rented from the Keansbury Steamboat

i

Co.,provided service to and from the Battery to the Immigration Station.

When the United States entered World War I, in April 1917, crews
from the German ships tied-up in New York Harbor and New Londen, Con-
necticut, were rounded up and transferred to Ellis Island for inter-
ment. A detachment of soldicrs was detailed by the War Department to
guard the merchant sailors. In addition to the interned German orews,
Cllis Island bocame host to a number of enemy aliens arrested on war-
rants by the Department of Justice.

Both the War and Navy Departments stood ready to take over Rllis

Island from the day the United States went to war. After the jnterned

Z4. Unl to Commissioner—General, Dec. 16, 1918, WA, RGBS, File 53862 1-H,

sl Upl to Commiss oner-Geperal, Kov. 5, 1916, KA, BGBS, File 53892/1A.
The Keansburg Steamboat Company reanted their vessel to the Immigration
Service for $6C per day, Lhe fee to include the services of tne carptain
and engineer, In the summer, Keansburg {which was 175 feet long, 50 feet
wide, and -icensed to earry H20 persons] had operated as an excursion boat
“rom the Battery Wall.
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sailors end sliens were transferred, the Ellis Island hospital was
taken over by the Medical Department of the U. S. Army. The navy
took over the baggage and dormitory building, alomg with consider-
able space in the main building. After the armed services had moved
oente the island im force, the inspection of arriving aliens was con-
ducted by the Immigration Service on board ship or at the steamship
piers.fﬁ

Flits Island continued to ply the waters between the Barge Office
and the island, iInstead of immigrants, she now transported members of
the armed services, aleng with the limited number of employees of the
Immigration and Public Health Services still hased on Ellis Island,
semiannual trips to drydock were still required, and in 1918 there
were protracted negotiations with the National Federation of Federal

o

Employees over a wage increase for the deckhands.”

*

25. Titkin, "Elliz Islard 88 an Immigrant 3tation,” pp. 13L-1
pp. 134-137

Elils island "Terry" Card Index, NA, S5i&, 295-Cen.

PR

2

28




CHAPTER ITI

Maintenance of the Craft, 1918-1945

The use of Ellis Island by the military came to an end in 1919,
the navy relinguishing its quarters at the end of March and the ==
returning the hospitals at the clase of the fiscal year. In Fiscal
Year 19192, $4,542.37 was charged to the aceount for maintenance and
repairs to Filiz Island. Records as to the expenses jncurred in dry-
docking the ferrvboat in Fiscal Year 1970 are missing.

In 1921 it was proposed by the Immigration Service to spend a
consjderable sum on the ferrvboat, Besides the biannuzl scaling,
cleaning, painting, and machine repairs, there would be alterations
to Elli{g Fsland’s superstructure. As there werc no docking plans,
interestcd parties would be compelled to visit the boat and "tuke
their own measurements.! Two drawings had been prepared by Civil
Engineer Frank S, llowell and approved by Chief Engineer Fry on April 1,
1521, showing a plan of the sections and maindeck, ({(Copies of these
drawings are found in this report.)

Alterations to the ferryboat's superstructure consisted of:

{a) removal of the exterior stairway (marked "A" on the drawing) and
handrail; (b) removal of brass handrail with stanchions, woodrail,
chain, brass guard plate and iron braces on upperdeck where exterior

stairway commenced; [c) removal of decking, deck beams, and seats where
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necessary to form hole for stairway marked "C' on drawing; (d) removal
of a seat with heating ¢oils on lower deck underneath new stairway,
and window and portion of deckhouse to make room for stairway; {e] re-
moval of seats with heating colls inside of new toilets located between
deorway und outside wall of deckhouwse and alongside of samec; (f] re-
mavial of all partitions, beeths, fleor, tiling, heating coils, tollet
fixtures, cte,, for enginecer's, pllet's and guartermaster’s cabing,
Lucker-room, washroom, and teilets; (g) removal of coal hole and ven-
tilaving covers mavked "M {h} removal of wooiden flooring of entire
naindeck; (1) removal of nart of deckhouse and bulkhead marked ™"

to muke Ttoow for larger doors; ard {3 remeval of doors marked 17,

New work was to consist of: (a) petching and repair of uppor deck
where outside stairs had been removed, (b)Y installation of new seat with
wire mesh railing at "#"; and at "{" a now stairway would be installed
from lower- to upper-deck. 7This sialvway was to be built of seasoned
white oak, with a handrall of polished brass. {¢] The partitions for
the enclosure under the stairs and the two toilets was to be built of
2 x 4" studs of spruce ur cedar, spaced about & on centers., The stud-
ding for the two tollets was to be sheathed and paneled on both sides
to match the present paneling.  (d) The enclesure underneath the stairs
was to be sheathed and paneled o the outside. On the floor line on

the vutside the partitions were te have 6" cak base. e} The doors

with trim and hardware were to be salvaged from the best of the doors
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that had been removed, (f) The door marked "“G'" was to be new and of

B! B % 7' 10" or of the same height and style as the present doors.
(1) Plinth blocks and hardware were to be new. fh1 Twa small windows,
10" wide and matching in height the glazed part of the door marked

Hg in the end bulkhead,weTe to be positioned next to near stairway
"L {iY Where beams in the upperdeck had been cut to make Fonm

for the new stairway, they were to be re-frumed, (J} The four new
doors marked "K' were to be of "tarage Door" pattern of the "Slidetite”
type with hardware of the wrchamleon- Nt leox Mg, Co. (k] MNew booches
would e installed where cabins, toilets, cte., had heen romovesd,

(1) Where cabins, eteo., had been removed, the contractor wis to put

in new panels, where requived by Chief Engineer brv, (my Llewven new

3 Jdlameter pipe columns with base flanges and caps were 1o he installed.

(1} The tank for drinking witer wias to be relocated, (ol The nld range
pole was to be removed, altered, and repesitioned. (p) And finally the
contractor was to install at the point marked "', on drawing two, u
caoitl hole.l (A copy of "Specifications fer all laber and Materials Re-
quired for Docking, Scaling, Cleaning, Painting, Altcerations, and Ma-
chine Repairs on the Steel Hull Ferpyboat 'Ellis [sland™ 1% found in

Appendix OO}

£ 1 . 1oand N . o " = - .5 - T :
Lo Mgpecificntions For ooll oLabor and MaleTialiooo.o. 0 ey,




Invitations soliciting proposals were ¢irculated, and the bids
were opened and abstracted by the Commissioner of Immigration at 2:30
r.m. on May Z0. .James Shewan & 5on , Inc., was found to have sub-
mitted a low bid of $21,750. On June 13 Shewan & Son posted the
requited performance bond and signed the contractiﬁ

This work was dene in the fall of 1921 at James Shewan § Son‘s
Broanlyn ddeydock.  Undoubteodly, many extras were required by the Steam-
boat Inspection Service, because the cost of waintenance and repairs
for 200 s Selosed In Fiscal Years 1921 and 1927 totaled $85,8%81.36.
This figure was slightly less than the cost of the ferrvboat to the
government in 1904,

Cummissioner Rebert E, Tod in August 1922 lcarned that continuous
use mide 1t mandatory that "certain repairs te machinery, scraping and
painting of the hull and readjustments, and replacements" be made to
Fiife frlod, without delay, Specifications were accordingly drawn
and circulated, On September 20 the proposals were opened and abstract-
cd,  Three of the proposals (those of Verdun & Ceo., Inc.; .James Shewan
5 Son; and W, § A, Fletcher & Ceo.) had not been presented until 303
p.m., whereas the time stipulated in the announcemenis was 2:30. They
blamed their discomfiture on a misunderstanding of the time of the
departure of Flifs Igiawd from the Barge Office. They had assumed the

vessel left at 2 p.m., but the schedule had been changed and she now

cast-ptf at 1:45.

T d.
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The low bid of the tive

Clinton Ny Dgeks, Inc., "Min
scaling, painting, etc., 31¢

found necessary, and 320000

offered and opened at 41U was that of
the amonnt of 4,680, vovering decking,
.00 each for such boiler tubes as may be

cach for propeiler wheels, 1F any he

Found necessary after doching of the vessel.' Unless the Department

of Labor felt that the bid of James shewan & Son vould ke secepted

with "justice and propriciy,’ Tod povoameinded e cenirne e e Tded

1o Clinton Ny bocks, 1ne,

while S5 Toior . was wmderpeiug vopndirs o The Tesigrat e Eerwiaae

would hve to charter another craft.  Khen the reguired proposals werce

received, they would be furwarded to Washington with Anpropriuie roecom-

wendit ions,  Fhe sunstitute boat wonld have to be called to prnvidu 13

hours scervice a dav,

As he econsidered FDifs Jelond part of Cour plant," Tl sugpes-

-~

ted that the cxpenses incurred in effecting repairs be charged to the

“Special Appropriation for remodeling and renevating buildinos and

plants.’

3.0 Tod ta o mmnissioncr—teneral, ool J0, THAE, b, BT i
o vod had reuluced Fredosich 6.0 sallls s Comenissicner ol

stion I

For the Forb of Sew Yoace D0 woloeer 1N

il
L} ]



Commissioner-General Husband on the 25th granted Tod autheority
to accept the bid of Clinton Dry Docks, Inc., At the same time, he
advised that the word "plant® could not be construed as covering re-
pairs to the ferryboat, Repair of the craft would therefore have to
be charped aguainst the appropriation for “Expenses of Regulating Im-
mjgrm:ivc:lr't.“?'r

Propusals had alse besn reccived from four shipping companies for
renting the government a substitute bout, while F1l{y Islana was laid-
up. Ueputy Commissioner Uhl recommended the acceplance of the bid of
the Keansburg Steamboat Co. of $275 per dav for the rent of the steam-
boat Mobjazi, with a capscity of 950 passengers. The low bid of Mills
Bros. had been rejected, because their vessel, Sguanztum, was licensed

for only 550 passengers, On September 30 Tod was authorized to rent

Eiifs Tslod was taken into deydock in October. When the engines

were taken duwn, it was seen that one of the cylinders was pitted, and

-

L - - r q“ r
it was rcbored by the machinists at Clinton Dry Docks. The inspector

Y, Husband to Tod, Hept. P70, 1522, XA, BGHS, File SEDEG/USE.

A, Mkl te Husband, Sept, 28, 1922, end Asst. Jommissioner-Uconeral
so Tod, Sept. 30, 1922, EA, DGARS, File HLOGS/25SE.

A, Tol Lo Commissioner—ieoneral, Oct. 27, 1972, 14, 3585, File
4LO64G/25B.  The charge Tor reborlng tie cylinder added an extra of
F13 o whne oill.
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from the Steambeat Inspection Service, on checking the machinery,
requited one of the boiler tubes to be Te-rolled and three feet of
boiler seam on the principal Scotch Boiler to be caulked before he
would pass ‘Ehmm.lJT

In TFiscal Year 1923 only one trip to the drydock was made , and
maintenance and costs of repairs to the ferryboat were cut drastically.
Whereas in Fiscal Year 1921 repairs to #ilis fecond had totalva
346,203,659 and in Fiscal Year 1922 33%,677.67, they werc reduced in

Fiscal Year 1923 to $4,977.14.

r3

7&1

3

g Isiawd made scveral trips to drydock in Fiscal Year 1924.
Two of these woere the semiannual visits made for scalimg, cleaning,
and painting the hall, and adjustments to her machinery. The cost

of repairs and maintenance in Fiscal Year 1324 increased four-fold to

§18,833.°

Three trips were made hy Eiide Jeland to drydock in Fiscal Year

1925, Two of these were the biannual oncs required by the Steamboat

., Tod to Commissicnor=CSeneral, Fov. L, 122, B4, RGBS, File nhigfalf
av thiz work Jlirtorn Dry Docks wan mail an extra siks,

1 —]

G, when FIlis fsians was to be dryaocoa for repairs in Hovember
1623, the Commissicucr-General authorized ite siperditure of £3,060 ror
engaring a substitute bost "to operate and muinteln o forry schedule be-

twaen dew York City and Ellis !sland.”  low bidder was Johb .. Moore To.
wiich would te pald $A5C per day Tor their boat Thomas O, M Llars,  Curranc
1o Commissicaer-General, Sept. 30, 1383, dA, ESA95, Wile 5%, 17h-233.  llerry

H, Curran kad replaced Tod as Commissioner o Iwmicraticn for the DJort of
dew York i the summer of 1933
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Inspection Service for the vessel to have her hull szcaled, cleaned, and
painted, und her machinery checked. On her autumn trip to the drydock,
the vessel reccived two new cylinder castings, complete, for stcering
cengines Nos. 3346 and 3347, supplied by the American kEngineering {o. of
Philadelphie. These engines, which were received '"fully machined, assem-
bled, and ready for imrstallation and commection to old crossheads and
cocenlri s rods,'" cost 5&}0.?

An emergency trip to a drydock was necessitated when the craft on
January 30, 1925, encountered a "heavy ice floe” and lost one propeller
and had her rudder damaged. An estimate indicated that repairs would
total $1,000, and {ommissioner Henry M. Curran telegraphed Washington for
authority to expend & sum not to exceed that fj.,gl.lrt.}.ll:I As zoon as he
received a reply in the affirmative, Curran made arrangements with John
sullivan Co. to employ one of its tugs te fow the crippled ferrvboat to
the drydock at Communipaw. EFilis Tsland was out of service one day as
the propeller was replaced and the rudder repaired. While the vesscl

was laid up, a substitute hoat was chartered frem John E. Muore for $250fl

d. Husvand to Jommissignes oF Tmmigration, Aug. 2, 1924, HL, RGSES,

File 23, LTH=230,

2

1J. Curran to Commissioner-General, San, 30, 1925, WA, [38%, Iile 95,

11, Zulilivan to Commiszioner of Immigration, Jan. 20, and Baker o
Comrissioner-General of Tmmigracion, Feb, 4, 1925, d4, RGBS, File 55, 17h-
22C.  Clinten Dry Docks, lne., had submitied s lower bid than Joho W, Sulli-

van . for revairing ZliZe Islemd, but the Tormer was unable toc provide |
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On March 2, 1925, the Commissioner-Gengral prepared his estimate
of what it would cost to operate ZLiie Island in Fiscal Year 1926. Avail-
able figures for the past several years indicated that the following

sums should be budgeted:

To annual salary cost of erew . . . . . 364,000
To coal & v v« x ok v r e = e e e 23,000
To minor repairs and parts as needed . . ., . 300
To Jubricants . + « « + « = « =« + 2+ ¢ o = 450

{o hire of substitute boat whiie c...: Jglaws
was in drydock for repairs and mainten-
ANEE v « 4 s e e e a e e e e e oa e 22,000

$93,330
To this figure would have to be added a charge for the biannual and
emergency trips to drydock. In Fiscal Year 1325, the two regularly
scheduled visits to the drydock and the emergency trip had cost the
seryvice $31,084. As this had been in cxeess of any years, except 1921
and 1922 when the charge inciuded extensive alterations to the craft,
the Commizsioner estimated that $25,000 in this account should suffice.

T8
AU 3

With the addition of this figure, the estimated cost for operating 2
Tsian! in Fiscul Year 1926 would be $118,330,%7
Plans were made to drydock Filis Ieland, as soon after Labor Day as

possible, to make necessary repairs, repaint ti2 hull, and uyverhaul ma-

chinerv and boilers. A new propeller would be requited to replace the

any assurance as to when the boat could be vardled, "due to the condl
ticn of their dry dock, ani not Ypring” o proreller of the desired dia-
meler and wel ht in stock. Jonn W, Sullivan, nowever, had propeilers on
hand and was cquipped to drydock Ellis Island immediately.

12. Uooeiss
5

ency of Immigration to Commissioner—Ceneral , burch 2,
1925, WA, RGEe, T

i
5. 1Th-220C,




one at the Ellis Island end of the craft.13 Before bids were solicited
for drydocking the vessel, propesals were invited for renting a substi-
tute boat, Proposals were received from the Keansburg Steamboat Ce. and
John E. Moore Co. for the rent of vessels. At the same time, Frank H.
Fhipps, Area Coordinator for the War Shipping Administration, offered to
place at the Immigration Service's disposal the ferryboat Hancoczk, cur-
rently the property of the war Department and berthed at Govemmor's Tsland,
Hancpzt had a capacity of 300, and could be calted on, in emergencies,
to transport 30 to 100 more persons. If lNgneocok were used by the Service,
one engineer and a fireman would accompany her.
One of Phipps' people had checked the landing at the Barge Office,
and he reported that the maximum persons transported on uny run was 367,
Consequently, Phipps was unable to understand the necessity of securing
a vessel with a capacity of 800 persons, as indicated in the announcement.lh
Assistant Commissioner Uhl, in recommending against use of Hancoek
by the Service, phserved that she had no open space on her maindeck from

fantail to fantail for accommodation of supplies and bagpuge. Tf any of

these were taken abourd, it would restrict the space available for pas-

13, k1l te “ommissioner-Ceneral, dug. T, 1325, KA, RGE5, File 530602-
WS-

14, Thipos to Ucmmissicner of lmmigration, Sept.ll, 1%25, A, RGES,
¥ile 5SECA-LS7, 2 check of the 5:L5 a.m. trip to Ellis Tsland showed 335
pasSeEngers; shc 12:15 a.m. run frowm fl1lis Island 7Ll; the 11:L45% a.m, Lo
211is lsland 50; the 3:1% p.m. from Ellis Islance 188, and the 400 p.om.
from Z11is Iszland L6T.
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cne at the Ellis Island end of the craft.13 Before bids were solicited
for drydocking the vessel, proposals were invited for renting a substi-
tute bpat. Proposals were reccived from the Keansburg Steamboat Co. and
John E. Moore Co, for the rent of wessels, At the same time, Frank H.
Phipps, Area Coordinater for the War Shipping Administration, offered to
place at the Immigration Service's disposal the ferrvboat Hameaock, cur-
rently the property of the war Ucepartment and berthed at Governor's Island.
danzock had a capacity of 300, and could be called on, in emeryencies,
to transport 30 te 100 morc persens. If Homeook were used by the Zervice,
onc engineer and a fireman would accompany her,
One of Phipps' people had checked the landing ut the Barge Office,
and he reported that the maximum persons transported on any run was 367,
Consequently, Phipps was unable to understand the necessity of securing
a vessel with a capacity of 800 persons, as indicated in the annuunCement.lh
Assistant Commissioner Uhl, in recommending against use of Hanceek
by the Service, observed that she had no open space on her mazindeck from

fantail to fantail for accommodation of supplies and baggage. 1 any of

these were taken aboard, it would restrict the space available for pas-

13, Thl *o "emmizsgioner-Sereral, Aug.T, 193%, d&, R385, 7ile 55602-

=
LV H
=1

14. Fhipons to Commissioner of Immigratien, Sept.ll, 1925, FA, 3G35,
File S5E02-LST, A check of the 5:5% a.me trip Lo Tilis Island showed 335
passchgers; the 11:15 a.m. run from 2lljs Island 71l; the 11:45 a.m. to
i1lis Islané 50; the 3:15 p.m. from Ellis Island 188; and the L:WC p.om.
crom Ellis Island EOT.

38




sengers “on whichever fantail it may be placed and can only be satis-
factorily handled by turning the boat end for end upon arrival at the
ferry slip.” Indeed, the Service had tried Hanacck on two previous
occasions, when Elldis Taland was tied up for emergency repairs, and
no baggage or supplies werc handled unless they were high prierity
items, On the last occasion, it had been found necessary to secure
from the United States Shipping board, a iaiye tug to assis. .
eral hours in handling the ferry traffic.

In addition, the Coordinator's proposal called for the Immigra-
tion Service to provide deckhands to man the craft, while the War [e-
partment provided but one engineer and a fireman, sormally, members
of Flliy Island's black gang, when the vessel was in drydock, were rurned
to assisting the Chief Engineer in undertaking such projects, invply-
ing the overhaul of machinery, as not incorporated into the specifica-
tions. Deckhands at the samc time were detailed to clean, serape, and
paint the superstructure of the vessel. Uhl therefore was opposecd to
accepting the proposal of the War Shipping Board and recommended that
the lew bid for a substitute boat submitted by Johm E. Moare Co. be

15 N X
accepted.”~ The Commissioner-General agreed, and a contract was signed

15, thl to Commissioner-General, Sert. 1%, 192%, B4, BGBR, Fiie 55,
£02=457. The steemer Keansburg, owned by Lhe Keansburg Cteambost Lo.,
was a pagsenger ang freight carrying craft, i75 feet lemg, with a <8-Teot
Cean to 5. fect over—ali. She was licensed to carry Acd passcngers and
over crne-talf of her maindecz had spacs for carrying froight. Zhe was
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for the charter of Mobjzck, 16
Meanwhile, the Immigration Service had accepted the proposal of
James Shewan § Son for scaling, cleaning, and painting the hull, and
adjusting the ferryboat's machinery. While Filis Island was in dry-
dack, she was inspected by perscnnel of Steamboat Inspection Service.
The ¥ull Inspector, after checking the plating, informed Chief Engineer
I'zy that "a considerable portion of the [plating] of the port side of
the vessel" would have to be renewed, along with '"some portions' of the
bottom and starboard quarter.
After the plates marked for replacement had been drilled, Chief
Engineer Fry inspected the bottom of £ilis ITaiand. He found that
since she was docked last year, that she had
evidently several times struck heavy drift or
gubmerged cbstructions, the waters of this harbor
beling notably encumbered by old timbers, piles,
and sp forth, some of which float well submerged
and cannot be avoided, particularly at night.

The drilled plates recommended for removal "showed a wasting

of from fifty to sixty per cent, the original thickness of the bottom

st e to cerry severzl hundred tors of froight, and was "fully sguitvod
for taxing care of passengers, having electric lighis, steam heat, toilets
ard statorocme." The steamer Mobjask, the property of John E. Moore Co.,
was a passenger and freight steamer, 175 feet in length, with a 29-foot
hulli to G0 feet over-all. She wes lirensed te cerry 250 passengers and
cne-hald of ner meindeck was desisned to haul freight. She was fully
equitped for taking care of passengers, having glectric lights, stbeam
tieat, toilets, ard staterocms.” William A. Gehlhous to Curran, Aug. 3l
1525, Li, 2085, File 5%, HosS-Lit.

S6. Hull to Unl, Seet. 22, 1923, EA, RGES, Tile 55, 602-LiT.
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plates being from 3/8 to 7/16 and these plates being wasted so,” there
remained but a thickness of 5/32 to 3/16. In view of her mission and
her age, 21 years old, and that submerged drift was a constant peril,

as well as the ice floes encountered in the late winter, Fry was com-
pelled to agree with the personnel of the Steamboat Inspection Service.
He concluded that “it would be taking an unde risk to continue to cperate
her without the renewal of hull plating . . . and without the

ening of certain butts and seams and one propeller arch by electric
welding."

Besides the hull work recommended, the local imspeetors had urged
that one tail shaft be replaced, When Fry lpoked at the tail shaft, he
saw that it was “padly wrung and corroded around the outboard sleeve,"
and he sgreed that this would also have to be billed as an extra to in-
sure the vessel's safety. The other tail shaft was pronounced in fatr
condition, the "only notable defect being a small crack near the Key-way
on outhoard end.” The new tail shaft would add $1,750 to the amount due
Shewan § 5on.

The Scotch Boilers appeared, despite thelr age, to be in good con-
dition. A test of the condenser demunstrated that only one tube Tequircd

replacement, ol

17. Fry to Commissioner of Immigration, Oet. 3, 1925, BA, RGHS,
File 55, 590-320.

41



Despite the extras (the renewal of hull plates and tail shaft),
only $13,835,05 was charged to repairs and maintenence of Eilis Teland
in Fiscal Year 1926.

During the year, the vessel acquited a third lifeboat. In accord-

ance with the recommendations of the Steamboat Inspection Service, a

metallic lifeboat (12 feet long with a four-foot, five-inch beam} was pur-

chased for $155 from C, C. Balbraith & Son, Inc.;B

The cost of maintenance and repairs to the ferryboat in Fiscal Year
1927 more than doubled to $30,357.5%4. In the ensuing fiscal year these
charpes dropped to $17,656.87, A trip to drydeck in the latter year was
necessitated by a collision with the Coal Barge Furgia # 66, belonging
to Berwind White Coal Mining Co. To repair the damage suffered in the
collision cost the government 3387,

On June 30, 1928, occurred an incident that emphasized the rising
cost of repairs and the need for prompt action in renting a substitute
boat. Ellis Islend on that evening struck a submerged object and broke
her righthand propeller wheel at the Mew York end of the craft, Com-
missioner Benjamin M. Day wrote the Commissioner-Gemeral for authority
to solicit bids for the repair of the damage and to rent a boat to take

over the route while the ferrybeat was in drydock. With the expansioen

15. Hull to Commissioner of Immigration, Dec. 30, 1925, WA, RGE3,
55, 596-326, The other two lifeboats were l6-Tocters.
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of government and a great increase in the volume of mail, the letter
remained on 2 clerk's desk several days after its arrival in the Bur-
eau before it reached Commissioner-General Hull's desk,1?

Hull, on reading the report, granted Commissioner Day autherity
to solicit bids for a new propeller and to dock Eilis reland,”C  Six
proposals for the work were received and opened at the designated hour
--2:15 p.m. on July 5. Abstracting the piugosals, Commiss. -
found that the bid of Todd Dry Dock Corp. was low; their time for com-
pleting the work was five days. This left a margin of four days in
favor of John W. Sullivan Co., which figured at the current charge for
a substitute boat for time involved came to §1,160, Boats could not
be hired for less than one day, so this made it impossible to accept

the proposal of James Shewan § Son. Commizsloner Day accordingly recom-

mended that the bid of John W. Sullivan Co. be accepted.<d

19, Day to Commissionsr-Gerersl, July 5 and Hull to Day, July 13,
1928, WA, RGBS, File 5hofo-235,

2. Ibid. The broken propeller had the following dimensions:
diameter ' 2%, pitch 10", widtn of blade 38", and tore zaper T 3/8" 1o
s
& 14",

21, Day to Commissicner-General, July 5, 1928, kA, RG853, File 5h,
569-25, As sbstracted by Day the six bids received were:

Firm Frice Zength of Time to do Waork
Todd Dry Lock Corp. §316 5 days
Jochn W. Sullivan Co. 3bs 1 day
James Shewan & Son Lzs 1/2 day
Tietjen & Lang Dry Dock Co. 345 S days
Aobbins Dry Lock & Henair Co. 360 S days
jorse Dry Doek & Repsir Co, 5349 7 deys
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In soliciting proposals for a substitute boat, Commissiconer Day
announced that landings were made in racks. The rack at Ellis Island
would accommodate a vessel 160 to 200 feet long with a narrow fantail,
whilc the rack at the Barge Office was somewhat larger, Fllis Island
had good speed and was capable of making the round trip, including
stops for unloading and loading, at each terminal, within one hour.
Trips would begin from Ellis Island at 6:20 a.m. and terminate from the
Barge Office at 12:30 a.m.

The low bid for a satisfactory substitute boat was submitted by
Mills Bros. and called for $290 per day. Commissioner-Generzl Hull
an July 9 granted Commissioner Day autherity to accept the proposal of
John Sullivan Co. for repair of EFllis JTsland and Mills Bros. for rent
of a substitute boat.gE

The delay in receiving permission to put Ellis Island in drydock
had resulted in damage to a bearing at the Ellis Island end of the craft.
John E. Sullivan was alse given the contract for replacing the bearing
at an additional $250. To aveid costly delays in the future, Commissioner-
General Hull urped Commissioner Day te see that letters requesting author-
ity to contract for emergency repairs to the ferrybeat be tapged “special!

<
ar ”urgem:.”"‘3

22. Day to Commissiocner-General, July 5, and Hull to Tay, July 9,
1928, NA, RGES, File 5SN960-25.

23, Hull to Day, Juiy 18, 1928, KA, 3GHE5, File 5L965-25,
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In Fiscal Year 1929 repairs and maintenance costs for Elids Island
totaled §$23,001,85. The next fiscal year found the government disburs-
ing $30,026.45 for the boat's up-keep, while in Fiscal Year 1331 expenses
for repairs and maintenance were cut to $24,051.32.

£11is Ieland in the fall of 1930 had to be drydocked after a colli-
sion with the barge M. M, O0'Brien. While laid-up for her biannual over-
haul, a rumber of hull plates and boiler thues ware replaced.

On June B, 1932, it was determined to convert Ellis Island from a
coal- te an oil-burner. The Brewer Dry Dock Co. was awarded the contract
for this project. Consequently, in the avtumn of 1832 the vessel was dry-
docked, the fire boxes removed, and replaced with cil-burners. For the
work, Brewer Drv Dock Co. was paid $56,ﬁ?3.2h QOther charges for mainten-
ance and repairs necessary to ¢nable the Steamboat Inspection Service to
vouch for the vessel's safety apggregated an additional $34,744.15 in Fis-
cal Year 1832,

As to be anticipated, after the heavy expenses for maintcnance and
repairs in Fiscal Year 1932, charges for the boat's up-keep in the ensuing
fiscal year dropped to §2,545,54, the lowest figure for any year ERR S
1520. Maintenance costs for Eilig Island zoomed ip Fiscal Year 1934 to
$41,865.71, dropped in Fiscal Year 1935 to $17,110,77, and skyrocketed in

Fiscal Year 1936 to §74,742,50.

24, Gweot to Commissioner, March 19, 1938, WA, RGOS, File Ho. Sk 9u9-25.
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The continuing high cost of maintenance was & source of concern
to the Immigration and Maturalization Service. On January 23, 1937,
an official, W, H. Wagner, wrote the Bureau of Marine Investigation §
Navigation (the successor to the Steamboat Inspection Service) and
pointed out that Eliis Izland had been in "constant operation” since
15(4, except when laid-up for repairs. During the past I8 years in
excess of 3500,000 had been expenided on her for “repairs and replace-
ments." It was therefore desirable for the Marine Investigation Ser-
vice to undertake a thorough examination of the craft and "advise this
office whether further extensive repairs are justified and the approxi-
mate cost thereof, and whether . . . the boat should be replaced.<3

James Smith of the Bureau of Marine Investigation spent February 2
on the vessel. He found Eiife fsland in a "seaworthy condition subject
to annual dry decking and repairs.” The only repairs currently required
were "ordinary annual running repairs, and when completed the vessel will
be seaworthy for continued service." She had been in continuous operation
since the autumn of 1935, and the proposed trip to drydock for a general
overhaul of machinery and hull was "considered to be normal and in confor-
mance with good practice.” Smith was willing to go on record that 'the

. b
present condition of Ellisz Iszland does not warrant her replacement,“2

25, Wagher to Burcau of Marine Investigation & Hnovigation, can. 25,
1537, I & NS, File 55812-T12A.

26, Swith to Commissioner of lmmigration & Haturalization, Feb. Z,
1937, I & K5, File 55812-TLZ4,
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gatisfied as to the vessel's overall condition, the Immigration
Service ordered Ellis Jsland into drydock. With only one trip to the
yards for a gemeral overhaul in Fiscal Year 1937, maintenance charges
for that year were held at $40,898.05, about $34,000 1less than during
the preceding 12-month period.

Typical of the difficulties encountered by the Immigration and
Naturalization Service in keeping Eliis lsluax cperating were L
experienced in the late summer of 1937. 0On May 17 it was announced that
on June ? at 10:15 a,m. sealed proposals would be opened by the Com-
missioner of Immigration in his Ellis Island Office "for all laber and
materials required for docking, scaling, painting, alterations and ma-
chine repairs on the steel hull ferryboat Ellis Island." Specifications
{a copy of which are found in Appendix D) for the projected work were
made available to prospective bidders. The contract was awarded to
Brewer Drydock Co. om its proposal of $2.’5,?-’1C!.E'-rr

A substitute boat having been secured, Ellic Island entered dry-
dock on August 23. The work was to be completed on or before Septem-
ber 5, When the craft was out of water, she was inspected by persoennel
from the Bureau of Marine § Navigation. They found that certain work
not covered in the contract “must be done” on the vessel. These ten

extras, which would cost an additicnal $16,028, included such items as:

27, Uhl to Commissioner-Genersl, undsted, I & NS, File 55, O12-Ti24A.
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{a} for removing old rivets, and installing new rivets in hull, not

to exceed 6,000 at $1.45 each, $8,700; (b) for renewal of 14 lower and
three vertical guard stringer plates at $275 each, $4,075; (c) to re-
move 220 lineal feet of good double guard, scale the wvertical guard
stringer plate in the way of this wood guard and then replace the wood
guard--220 lineal feet--3950; and (d) furnish and install a new propeller
wheel for the New York end of the vessel--3$315, (A& report on these ten
extras and their cost is found in Appendix E.)

As the vessel was in drydock, it would be impossible to secures compe-
titive bids for the extras involved. District Director Byron Uhl therefore
requested authority on August 27 from the Acting Commissioner of Immipra-
tion & Naturalization to "charge this expenditure to the Appropriation for
Immigration Stations, 19387 Asgistant Commissioner W, I. Wagner to whom
Uhl's letter was referred gave his approva1+28

Three days later, personnel of the Bureau of Marine and Navigation
recommended additional repairs costing $8,888.50., Included in these extras
would be: {a} $4,258.50 for the renewal of seven angle shell frames, 25
angle shell reverse frames, lZ connecting clips, and one side stringer

angle, and the removal and renewal of 128 square feet of cement; (b} $1,92%

28, Uhl to Acting Commissioner, fAug. 27, 1238, I & NS, File 55, 812-
T124. In the summer of 1933 the Immigration and Naturalization Bureaus had
been merged. District No, 3 to which Ellis Island was mssigned included
soutnern New York and northern dew Jersey, The district was ndministered
by a Ddstrict Commissicner.
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for the removal and replzcement of five hull plates; and ()] $1,650 for
the replacement of 6 additional lower guard plates. {A report on these
extras and their cost is found in Appendix E.} Once again, it would be
uneconomical for the Service to secure competitive bids for this work.
In response te a request by Uhl, Wagner telegraphed authority to proceed.29
Assistant Commissioner Wagner on September 3 was shocked to receive
a letter from Uhl, dated the previcus cay, seporting that . ..iteo
of the examination being made by the Local Department of Commerce, dis-
closes that additional work must be done on the ferryboat." Uhl agaln
assured his superiors that "no portion of the work mentioned could have
been foreseen or determined prior to drydocking the vessel, and 1t is
not practical to obtain competitlon for the extra work invelved." Chief
Engineer Munster had vouched that the prices listed by the people at
Brewer Dry Dock were not excessive, Included in these extras which
totaled $35,610 were: (a) $6,875 for the removal and replacement of 25
stringer plates; (b) $2,736 for renewal of puard stringer angle; (c} $365
for the removal and replacement of “deteriorated sea chest;f"  [d) 1,560
for removal and renewing of eight deck plates; (e) $940 for renewal of
boiler-room casing plates; (f) $1,470 for removal and replacement of six
underneath deck plates; (g) $10,530 to replace with new, and remove old,
angle deck beams; (h) in connection with item {g] "260 lin. ft, of 4" x

14" margin planking must be removed and replaced, new where rcquired,”

20, Uhl to Acting Commissioner of I & N3, Aug. 30, 1937, T & Bo,
File 55, 312, 712a.
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to cost $3,120; (j) $1,260 to remgve and replace 1,260 square feet of
house siding" in the way of the removed margin planking;" (k} in con-
nection with item (3} "4,760 lin, fr. of 3 x 4" decking must be remaved
and renswed, and be properly fastened and caulked" to cost $3,570; (1)
1,360 square feet of asphalt decking to be torn up and replaced for
$2,156; and (m) 3375 to remove and replace the seats and heater pipes
on the port and starboard beams of the craft. (A report on these extras
and their cost is found in Appendix E.} To undertake this work, the con-
tractor would require a ten-day extension, 3
Before Wagner could act on Uhl's letter of September 2, he received
a communication dated September 9 submitting another list of extras recom-
mended by personnel of the Bureau of Marine and Navigation. Among these
cxtras to cost $12,760.35 werce: (a) the remowal and replacement of 3,682
rivets at $!.45 each to cost £5,3382.90; (b1$2,790 to remove and renew 31
reverse frames: (c) %783 for removing and renewing the stringer angle;
{d} $450 to replace one web plate eatenm through and corroded; (e) §215
to remew watertight door leading to peak compartment; and (f) $433.20 to
caulk 722 feet of shell seam. (A report on these extras and their cost is
found in Appendix E.) The people in Wagner's office, after considerable
discussion, agreed to go along with all the extras except the one calling

for the removal and replacement of 3,682 rivets to cost $5,338.90. The

30. Ukl to Acting Commissioner I & 35, Sept. 2, 1937, I & N3, File
n5812-T124,
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sum to be expended on this item would be cut to $1,450.31
On September 16 Commissioner James L. Houghteling telegraphed Uhl
to contract with the Brewer people for the extras listed in the letters
of September 2 and 9 to cost $46,372.35. -
These extras would add to the sum obligated for hire of the substi-
tute boat. The original contract had provided that Eilis Island would
be drydocked a maximum of 14 days 1o bhegin wi Auglst 23, W epr L
ment was reached with Brewer bry Dock on the extras, an extension was
provided, By the time the work was completed and the vessel inspected
and passed by the Bureau of Marine and Navigation, October 7 had arrived. >
Several members of the House Subcommittee on Appropriautioms, when
they discusscd the Department of Labor's proposed budget for Fiscal Year
1940, expressed concern about the high cost of repairs to Zllig tsland,
The Congressmen had learned that in excess of $500,000 had been spent in
the period since 1919 for repairs to & craft that had cost about 3100,000
in 1904. The chairman of the subcommittee suggested that a study be under-
taken by the Immigration and Naturalization Service to determine the ad-

visability of replacing Fliis Island with a new boat upon which mainten-

ance costs would not be so high., On checking the records, the Commissioner

31, Uhl te Commissioner I & HE, Sept. %, 1937, 1 & N3, File 55B12-T12A.
32, Eoughtcling to Ukl, Sept. 16, 1937, I & K5, Pile, 55, 812-T12A.

13, Un! te Commlssicner, Cetober 1937, I & NS, File 55,812-T124.
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reported that the wages for the crew cost the Service §62,800 per
year;3h the average annpual cost of Tepairs (based on the total cost
of repairs for the last ten years} was $36,785; the average annual
rental of a substitute boat while Elii{s lsland was laid-up over the
past decade was §5,35; and the cost of fuel oil for the year aver-
aged $15,Dﬂﬂ.35 Thus the current annual operating cost of the boat was
$120,000. The cost of Ellis Island, waen i, ine Commission
wasz $103,848.50,

At present, the Service had 450 employees on Ellis Isiand and the
Public Health Service another 273, for a total of 723, Basides the
employees, Filis Island transported aliens and visitors, Her maximum
capacity per trip was 600 passengers and her 10-man crew, plus baggage
and freight on her maindeck.

Wagner had contacted Comdr. F. A. Hunnewell, the Coast Guard's chicf
naval constructor, to securc cost figures for huilding a vessel top replace
Ellis Ieland. Hunnewell belicved a new hoat would cost from 400,000 to
$£450,000, Moregover, he continued, "a slight difference in length over all
wouldn't make encugh difference in the cost to justify a reductien in length,

if economy were the only reason for change." Hunnewell was of the opinion

3., Emplayed ot the vessel were: five marine enhgineers at 313,§GU,
coven marine firemen at §13,380, 12 deckhands at 520,000, and five piloets
at $15,000 per yesar.

35, 1n Fiscal Year 1938, Ellis Tsland had consumed 3,224 yarrels of
fuel pil sné 1,206 gallons of lubriecsting oil.
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that a boat with a length of 160 feet "was not too large for the work
in New York Harbor." Three firms (Pusey § Jones, J. H. Mathis Co.,
and United Shipyards) were recommended as capable of building the type
craft desired should Congress make the necessary appropriation.36

when the Commissioner reported to Secretary of Labor Frances
Perking, he pointed out that '"based on present wage scales, a new
boat of approximately the same dimensions and tonmage as the present
craft will cost about $475,000." Ferryboat men, familiar with condi-
tions in New York Harbor, had assured the Service that a craft of simi-
lar dimensions would be required to combat the storms and ice floes
encountered. A smaller vessel could jeopardize the lives of passengers
in stormy crossings.3T

Moreover, it would be in the interest of the United States to
replace Flliz Island, because of her high cost of maintenance. Duaring
the last five fiscal ycars the average annual cost of repairs had been
$46,000. The previous year, when the vessel was in drydock at Brewers,
the "estimated cost of rcpairs was over $109,000." The Labor Depart-
ment therefore urged that she be replaced, and asked that $500,000 be
added to its proposed budget for Fiscal Year 1940 for "construction or

purchase of a Diesel engine steel hull ferrybuat.“35

36. Wagner and Uhl, to Commissioner I & N8, Oct. B8, 1938, I & NS,
File 55812-T12B.

47. Saunders to Director of the Budget, Oect. 2B, 1938, I & N3,
File 558157-T12P. Richardson Ssunders was Secretary Perking! adninistra-
tive assistant,

38, lopid.
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The Department of Labor, however, was unable to prevail on Con-
gress to include $500,000 for a new ferryboat in its budget for Fiscal
Year 1940, With the outbreak of war in Burope and the threat to Ameri-
can security raised by the sweeping Axis successes of 1935-1941, Congress
and the nation werc more concerned with national defense than replacing
Ellis Island.

Tie rack at the Barge Office was located at the confluence of the
Cast and North rivers. The "cenflicting currents'' and heavy water
traffic passing that point comstituted hazards for Fllis Island's pilots.
They accordingly had to be extremely careful. In the past one of the
pilots had rammed the ferryboat into the bridge at the Barge 0ffice on
scveral ovcasicns, and as punishment he had been reduced to a deckhand.39
District Director Uhl was therefore surprised to learn that on Octpber 10,
1939, EFliig Isifand had rammcd the ferry rack and bridge at the Barge
Office, with some damage to the timbers. Repairs were made by the Depart-
ment ¢f Labor force from Ellis Island.

Although the damage had been repaired, the New York Port Authority
was not prepared to drop the subject. One of the Authprity's engineers
complained that "a serious condition exists in connection with these
recurring accidents, and . . . there is grave danger™ when the bridge of

the ferrv tack is rammed too hard and driven up toward the building that

3%, Uhl to Supervisory Engireer, Cea. 19, 1932, I & NS, File 55,
§lz-T127,
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the accident may cause "'the spreading of the structural towers of the
galiows frame which supports the heavy hoisting machinery and counter-
weights of the ferry bridge." This could have terrible consequences
should the gallows frame come crashing down on the New York end of
the ferry, which was open and generally crowded with passengers eager
to be first ashnre.LLCJ
Uhl, in view of the positieon taken Ly .ne Port Authorit o
the pilots apainst ramming the tack and bridge at the Barge (ffice ter-

miral. On doing so, he reminded them of the demotiom given one of their

predecessors.

A thick fog blanketed New York Harbor on the night of February 10-il,

1940. £iiis Island, after some delay because of the weather, pulled away

from the Barge Office rack at 12:20 a.m., with 72 passengers. The fog
had started to 1ift, and Pilot Jacobsen believed the passage could be
effected in safety. Soon after leaving the rack, thc bmat "hooked up"
10 get steerugeway and to settle on her course. After Tunning "hooked
up" for about two minutes, she slowed down, running on onec bell, Filot
Jacobsen now heard a fog whistle, stopped his vessel's emgines, and con-
tinued to blow fog signals. As the other craft seemed to be getting
nearer, £iifs Island backed water. The other boat, which nroved to be
the "Liberty Island ferry' now passed, and Lilis Tatand resumed her

course west and north, and running on a "slow bell.”

Lo, District Enginecr to Supervising Engineer, Oct. 11, 1930,
I & RS, 55, §12-T12C.
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There were two stakeboats, which by Federal permit, anchored near
the approach to the Ellis Island slip. The lower (southern) stakeboat
was ownhed by McWilliams Blue Line, Inc., while the upper belonged to
Tice Towing Co. Jacobsen, believing that he was appreoaching the Ellis
Island slip, suddenly sighted dead ahead, through the gloom, the white
and rcd light of the McWilliams stakeboat. Fearing a collision, he
reversed cuits Teland, and backed into the coal barge Raven. The barge
in turn was driven into scveral others moored to the stakeboats. After
colliding with Raven, Eliis Island grounded. A quick check indicated
no damage, but the passengers and crew were compelled to remain aboard
the craft until 6:25 a,m. when she was freed by the Coast Guard cutter
Arundel, #1lis Island then proceeded to her slip under her own power.hl

wners of the damaged harges filed claims totalippg $2,000 against
the United States, They charged that Pilot Jacobsen had been negligent,
After making an investigation, the U. S. Attorney General's Office found
that Eli<s Jaland was at fault, because: (2} Pilot Jacobsen had failed
to station a lookout on the sterm, after the light of the MeWiiliams

stakeboat had been sighted, and EiZlis Izland had reversed her engine;

(b} of Jacobsen's long, nine-hour tour of duty; (&) the vessel's compass

Ll1. Uhl to Commissioner of Immigretion, Feb. 19, 1940, and Avery
Lo Attorney General, Jan. 21, 1%41, I & 48, File 55812-T12D. Xyron
Avery was special assistant to the U. 5, Atlorney for the Southern Dis-
trict of How York.
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was found to be in error; and (d) Ellis Island was off course. In
view of these findings, the United States reimbursed the owners for
one-half of the amounts claimed for damages.142

In July 1940 it was determined to replace the vessel's m2in gener-
ator. The one in use had been in the craft since her commissioning
in 1904, and it was obsolete as both engine and generator were "con-
nected to a common shaft without a coupleng.' Within the |- SRR T
months, the shaft had crystalized and had snapped, This in turn frac-
tured the crankcase of one of the 'aa'ngi'ma-s.hri

When the proposals for a new generator were opcned, it was found
that a bid of $5,323 submitted by the Westinghouse Electric §& Manufac-
turing Co. was low. This price was considered cxerhitant and new
proposals were solicited. These were opened on August 29, and the
low bid of $£2,1584, made by Turbine Equipment Co. was acueptcd.hh

Although the United States went to war on December 8, 1941, the
Immigration and Naturalization Service continued to operate the ferry.
It was still necessary to put Filis Island in drydeck and have her
checked by inspectors from the Bureau of Marine and Navigation. FPro-

posals were solicited on April 2, 1942, fur “docking, scraping, washing,

L#, Avery to bttorney Seneral, Jan. 21, 1341, spd Shea to Director
of Buresu of Immigraticn, Jan, 23, 19L1, 1 & N5, Tile 55B1s-Tr2AD,  The
barges were ownea by: Raven Coal Col, McLain Line, Harpld L. Valentine
ine., end Red Star Toewing & Transportation Co.

43. Unl to Commissioner of I & NS, July 13, 1940, and Wagner Lo Uhl,
July 17, 19L0, I & K8, File 55812-712D.

L. Wagner te Unl, Sept. 9, 19L0, I & NE, File 55812-712D.
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wire brushing, and painting" the vessel's steel hull, The only bid
was $3,950 by Brewer Dry Docks Co, Its acceptance was authorized by
the Commissioner-General on April 3_h5

Meanwhile, arrangements had been made to hire a substitute boat,
Mayfaiy, from the Sutton Line., FPlans had been made to send Eliis Isiand
to Brewer Ury Docks om May 11. But on the 7th a hitch developed, when
the U.35. Maritime Commission authorized the U, 5. Mavy to take over
Mzyfair at 3 p.m. on the §th, To make matters more embarrassing, the
Sutton Line did not have any other boats available to send as a replace-
ment. The Immigration and Waturalization Service thus found itself em-
broiled in wartime priorities. Eilis Island's visit to the drydock
would have to be postponed.145

It wias September hefore arrangements could be made for renting
# substitute boat from Keansburg Steambpat Co, The price the Service
would have to pay, §750 per day, reflected shortages in shipping created
by global conflict. 1In April 1941 a substitute boat had cost 3485 per
day, whilc in August 1940 one could be had for £360 per day,hT The con-
tract for the boat sipned, Eiliz Tsfemd was taken to Brewer Ory Docks

to have her hull seraped and painted. While at Brewers, twe galvanized

&, TUhl to Commissicmer-General April B, 1942, I & NS, File 55812-712X.
L&, Uhi to Commissicner-General May 1!, 1942, I & N2, File 35812-T12E.

W7. Harrison to Distriet Dirsctor, Sept. 1%, 1942, I & NS, File 55812-
TLZE.,
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iron, mushroom type deck ventilators were installed., These were
needed to ventilate the end compartments to prevent the hull plates
and frames from rusting,

The cost of Tenting a substitute beat continued to inflate. Inm
April 1943, it was 3800 per day. With Zll{s Island due for another
trip to drydock, the Immigration and Naturalization Servicc contacted
the War Department's Transportatior Lommanc. Ihe Transport..
mand was agreeable to permitting the Immigration people to employ one
of their boats up te six days for a fee of 5210 a day. This sum was
to be paid by a transfer of funds.hg

Brewer Pry Docks was awarded a contract 1in April and again in
September 1943 for “furnishing of minor hull and machinery repalrs,
docking, scraping, washing, wire brushing, and painting' £ilia Isiand's
steel hull. The contract price for this werk im September was 58,206.5(

The wartime hlackout of Atlantic Coast harbors added to navigational
hazards. On April 27, 1944, Ellis faland, with Pilot Raymond Tves at the

wheel, on her 12:45 a.m. trip from the Barge Office side-swiped a barge.

The barge was lashed onte the dredge Gowvernor Warfield, moored in the

45, Wagner to District Jirecter, July 25, toka, Tk N5, File
LoA1A-T12E.

49, Gliver to Immigreticn & Weturalization Service, Bept. 25, 1943,
I & NS, File, 55812-T12L.

£). Watking to Commissioner, dept. 29, 1943, 1 & 98, 55812-(1%E.
W. F. Watkine had replaced Unl as District Jreetor of the Tew York Cffice.



channel east of the entrance to the Ellis Island slip. A survey of
the damage showed Ives that about 75 lineal feet of the bulkhead of
his wvessel's superstructure had been carried away between the upper
and main decks. There appeared to be ne damage to the hull or upper
deck, while the upper deck did not sag, as to be expected when the
outer supports of the bulkhead were smashed.

A vall for assistance brought the Coast Guard. A crew was turmed
to shering up the upper deck and clearing away the debris. This work
was completed by nightfall. Cost of repairing the damage was $2,?5G.51

Eliis Island was drydocked for repairs and maintenance twice in
1944, On both occaslions a substitute hoat, Fen, Arthur W. Yeates, was
rented from the War Department's Transportation Command for $210 per
day. Liberty Dry Dock, Inc., was awarded the contract for the June
trip to the yard. The corporation was paid $14,483 for "decking, scrap-
ing, wire brushing, and painting the hull," and machinery repairs to the

craft.52

31. H. L. Zpotk to Holton, April 28, 194bk, I & kS, File 55618-
TL2E. EBooth wes chiel of maintenance and Relph Holton was District
Adwinistrative Of'ficer.

52. CGray toc Zistrict Director, May 22, 19Lh, I & N3, File 55818~
T12E., Jgl. E. B. Gray wes an officer in the Transportation Commard.
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CHAPTER IV

Edward Corsi Recalls the Ferryboat

One of the millions of immigrants who landed in America from Ellis
Izland was Edward Corsi, who in November 1s._ was named Comb
Immigration at the Port of New York by President Herbert Hoover, Corsi
had entered the United States in 1907 through Ellis Island. A ten-year-
old at that time, Corsi recalled in his book, In the Shadow of Iiberty,T
published in 1937, that a little vessel, Cenaral Putnam, brought his
family from the ship that had transported them from Italy to the [mmi-
gration Station, As Oeneral Putnam coasted intd the Ellis Island slip,
the passengers began to move. "We moved with them and as we stepped
from the gangplank to the land, all silent and subdued, T knew that my
parents werc thinking as T was, 'What is next?'"

During the ride across the bay on feneral Putnam, Corsi had heen
watching the faces of theose milling about, and he now realized that
Eilis Island could inspire both hope and fear. Some of the passengers
were afraid and obvipusly "dreading the events of the next fow hours;

others were impatient, anxious to get through the inspection and be off

I. Edward Corsi, In the Shadow of Liberty: The Chronicle of Eilie
Taland (New York, 1937), B- T-
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to their destinations." He never forgot this scene. 411 were moti-
vated by one desire--to make a fresh start in & free cauntry.g
After being processed and passed for admission to the United
States, the newcomers walked to the slip, carrying their baggage,
and boarded Eilis Island. Each prospective new American had his own
thoughts as Ellis Ialand got under way, Corsi recalled that as he
crossed the harbor, he was first struck by uns fact that “Am.. . -
men did not wear beards. In contrast to my fellow-countrymen I
thought they looked almost like women. 1 felt that wec were superior
to them. Alsc on the beat I saw my first Negro." These sights, how-
ever, paled to nothing when Eillis Istand docked at the Battcry and the
first elevated train rumbled by. "There could be nothing in America
supcrior to thesel">
When Corsi returned as Commissioner of Immigrution, he interviewed

Frank Martocei, who would have probably processed his family in 1807, In
recalling the old days of unrestricted immigratijon, Martocci told Cersi:

We went to work . . . from the Barge Office at

the Battery. From there the ferryboat (Ellis

Island) took most of the employees to Ellis Island

at J in the motning. Fundreds of other people

were always waiting and clamoring to get on the

same boat. These were the friends and relatives

of the immigrants expected during the day, or
already detained at the Island.

2. Ibid.,p. 5.

3. Ioid.,p, 22,
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To get on the boat, these friends and relatives,

a mixed crowd of all nationalities, had to obtain
passes from the steamship office, and the guards
used ta eirculate among them at the Barge 0ffice
to make sure that only the proper people had these
passes.

Once on the Island, we employees had to plumge imme-
diately into our work for in those terrifically busy
days whole bpat loads of imﬂigrants were walting to
be inspected every morning.

In FTiscal Year 191Q Commissioner Williams had instituted a pro-
cedure designed to make it easier for detained immigrants to communi-
cate with friends or relatives in the United States. A postal card
Wwus introduced by the Immigration Service. This card, which the auth-
orities caused to be filled in and mailed free of charge, read:

haz arrived at Ellis I[sland by steam-
ship ., This immigrant refers to you. If
you desire to call on his or her behalf you may do
so. Ferrybeat [Ellis Island] leaves barge office
{(Battery Park) every hour on the hour. You are not
required to pay anything to anyome in conmection with |
this matter, If you come to Ellis Island, bring this
card with you.

Tt was only when the immigrant disembarked at the Barge {iffice
slip from Filis Island that he was in America. After he passed through

the Barge Office, he was subject to 'serious dangers of exploitation.”

L. Ihid.,pp. T2-T3.

S, Annual Heport of the Commiseicner-General of Immigration to
the Secretary of Commerce and Labow for the Fiscal Year Ended Jume 50,
1910 {Washington, 12i0}, p. 136.
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The police did all they could to protect the nmewcomers, but still some

got into the clutches of confidence people,

&

One of the amusing sights of New York during the decade between

1904-121

4 was the scene at the Battery when Ellie Teland docked with

her cargo of "human freight." Corsi had been told by many pecple

that half an hour after the boat had docked, the
dressing roeoms in the adieining ferry houses, the
iower end of Battery Park, and even the gutters
along the sidewalks presented the appearance of

a junk shop. Queer headgear of women lay about,
the familiar black visored caps of men and boavs,
waists and shirts or trousers that undoubtedly
went well in the outlying districts of Moscow

but would not go far in Manhatran without caus-
ing comment and ridicule.

American friends and relatives hurriedly dressed
the pewcomers Lo disguise the facr Ehat they had
come in steerage. Modern American clothing and
baggage were handed te the arrivals as soen as
they srepped off [Ellis Island], and they were
forced te put it on in the nearest convenient
place, before meeting anyone in America. Typleal
immigrant valiseas and bags were discarded in the
street, thrown overbeard from Ellis Island,

or abandened in the public dressing rooms. Such
are the ways of vanity.

0,

T,

Corsi, In the Shadow of Liberty, p, 156.

o, 267

Ibid,
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CIAPTER ¥

Efforts to Secure a Second Vessel

By the autumn of 1906, it was apparent to the officials of the
Imnmigration Service that another ferryboa. w.- required to p1.
relief for Filis Island. Since June 1904 Eilis Island had been in
continuous service, except on five occasions for a total of 15 days,
when she had been ordered into drydock for "outside painting and ma-
chine repairs." There had been cxpended onm the craft on these visits
to drydock for machinery repazirs and painting $5,215.36, the major
portion being charged against the account for repairs. A consider-
able part of this sum, according to Chief Enginger Fry, mipht huve
been saved if it had been possible "to lay the boat up immediately
upon the discovery of a broken propeller or other derangement of me-
chanism abroad." This was impossible, however, as Fitie Island had
no replacement. She had beep run, and was at present running with her
main shaft badly out of balance, because of a broken wheel. This
caused a pronounced vibration of her hull, and, if not corrected, it |
would be fatal to the life of her engines.

The Scotch Boilers were also subject to deterioration, as they
needed to be cleaned out at periodic intervals. It was the practice

to have this done every six months, when the vessel was taken in




drydock to have her hull painted. For those interested in economy, it
was pointed out that coal consumption was increased by boiler scale.

In the opinion of Frank Howell, Civil Engineer, if the ferry were
"to live anything like the usval length of time allotted to boats of
her' class, some arrangements ''must De made for a substitute boat to be
made immediately available in case of necessity." Howell's recommenda-
tion was for the gﬂ*ernment "to build or purchase another vessel, '

Commissioner-General of Immigration Sargent was impressed with
the arguments advanced by fHowell and Chief Engineer Fry, and on Nov-
ember 12, 1906, he asked Secretary of Commerce and Labor VWictor H.
Metcalf to budget $115,000 for the comstruction or purchuase of another
doubrle-ender ferryvboat, as Ellis Island did not "fully meet the require-
ments of the Service.” To support his contention, he pointed out that
the continuity of the service was endangered by "the periodical need of
withdrawing the vessel from duty for repairs,’” because therc was mne
provision for emergency ferry service. On the few occasions when Zllie
Ialand was disabled by accidents to her wachinery, considerable diffi-
culty had becn encountered by Commissioner Watchorn in chartering a

vessel of the "character required to meet the conditions that prevail.“2

1. towell ta Watchorn, Oct. 31, 1906, %A, BGH5, File 91, LSO,

Z. Sargent to Secretery of Commerce & Laber, Fov. 12, 1906, HA,
r285, File 51, k50,
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After studying this memorandum, Commissioner Watchorn checked
with Chief Enginesr Fry. Fry questioned the amount to be budgeted
for 2 new vessel, becauvse he felt certain that not less than $125,000
would be required for her construction., To support his view, he ob-
served that the shipbuilding industry was caught in an infiationary
spiral, and the cost of labor and materials had skyrocketed in the
three years since the constructicn of £icis saland.?

Congress, in an economy mood, was unwilling to vote necessary
funds, and the Immigration Service was compelled to get aleng with
one boat to transport the flood-tide of immigrants from Ellis Island
to the BatteTy. In March 1510 the Commissioner-General of Immigratien
agaln asked Congress for $125,000 for the construction of a second
ferryboat.

To justify this expenditure, it was peinted out that about
2,500,000 passengers arc annually” transported by Ellis fsland. She
was now six years old, and since commissioning "she had been in con-
stant service except during the short intervals when hauvied out for
repairs." Moreover, it was observed that the ferry passage to Ellis
Island from the Battery was "'considered the most dangerous in New York

Harbor, as the routes of all the Sound streamers were crossed,' and

3. Watchorn to Sargent, Dee. T, 1906, NA, KGES, File 51450,
Annual Report of the Commiasioner-General of Immigration for the Figscal
Year Ended June 30, 1807 {(Washington, 190T7), T7.

67




there were rocky shoals to the north of the entrance to the Ellis
Island slip. In foggy weather there was always dangeT of collision,
The difficulty of securing a substitute boat, when Eilis Igland had
to be drydocked, had increased. Recently, it had taken five weeks to
charter a vessel to use while the ferryboat was repaired. "Common
prudence” dictated that the government should have a second craft not
"only to relieve the present one of the ciccssive service sh. - - .-
dering every day, but to take her place both in the event of a break-
down and when she must be laid 1.1}::.”E4

The House Appropriatiens Committee once again rejected the request
for funds for a second ferryboat. On being advised of this actiom, the
United States Commissioner of Immigration at the Port of New York, Wil-
liam Williams, on February 28, 1911, wired Secretary of Commcrce and
Labor Charles Nagel, "House assumes grave responsibility on cutting out
appropriation for 2d ferryboat. Please urge Senate Committee To restore
this item.”” The Secretary, however, failed in his efforts to get the
Senate Appropriations Committee to include funds for a second ferryboat

in the appropriations to operate the Immigration Scrvice for Fiscal Year

1512,

b, Commissicner-General of Immigration teo Secrciary of Commerce
% Lgbor, March 1910, dA, R385, File 31, Le0,

5. Williams Lo Wagel, Feb. 28, 1911, WA, RGBS, File 51, L=a,
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Commissioner Williams was undaunted by this rebuff. In July 1911
he again asked that a request for $125,000 be inciuded in the budget
for Fiscal Year 1913 for a second ferr}ﬂbuat.6 Additional support was
provided for Williams' request on November 10, when Ellis Island col-
lided with a sunken object and snapped one of her propellers. As it was
unsafe to operate the craft in this condition, because she was unable
Lo bachwater, she had to be sent to drydock.
Contacting the Commissioner-General, Williams complained that
Eliis Island had been compelled to make several trips between the time
of the accident and when a replacement could be chartered. To make
matters worse, a pea-soup-like fop enveloped the harbor on the morning
of the 10th, and between 18 and 11 a.m., Flits Isiand, in her disabled
state, made a run to the island "with a2 large number of officials on
board." Williams argued that it was "wrong to expose Government offi-
cials to such dangers when they can be eliminated through a second boat.'
Within two weeks after the propeller had been replaced, Fliis Island
encountered additional trouble on November 23, when the guide-rod of the

- 8 . . . .
reversing ram broke.  Engineer Munster voiced the gpinion that this

. Williams to Commissicrer-Genersl of Immigralionm, July 1911,
Na, RoAS, File 51, LsO,

t., Wiiliams to Commissioner-Gemeral, Wow. 11, 1911, KA, RGES,
Tile 51, u50.

8. This mishap occurred while the craft was operating the re-
versing mechaniss of her main engines,
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breakdown had been caused by continuous service, or 2 flaw jin the rod
which could not be detected by putside examination, A new rod was se-
cured and installed, and service was resumed, after an interruption of
six hours. While Ellis Ialand was laid-up, the Immigration Service
hired a Mpore Co. boat.g
Commissioner Williams, in calling attention to Mr. Munster's
statcment blaming "evontinuous service™ for the latest breakdown, com-
plained that Elliz Islond was so overworked that "we may congratulate
ourselves that more such breakages do not ocaur.”lD
Despite Williams' hard-hitting efforts, Congress refused to include
$125,000 for ancther ferryboat in its appropriations to fund the Immi-
gration Service for Fiscal Year 1513, In 1913 the Commissioner, with
a Democratic administration in Washington, presented another request to Con-
gress for a second ferryboat. He pegged his arguments on three poeints:
fa)] Filie Faicnd was overworked, as she was run under "forced" condi-
tions. She had no “lay-up" day on which her boilers could be flushed,
and necessary adjustments made to '"take up ware on the engines.' Since

she had been commissioned nine years before, all repairs and replace-

ments to her engines had been made "once 2 year at the time of annual

9. Williems to Commissioner—Ceneral, Kov. 25, 1911, d4, RGES,
File 31450.

20, Thid.
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overhaul, unless an accident or emergency’ necessitated immediate action.
If she were tied-up at periodic intervals for minor repairs and adjust-
ments, the cost and scope of those made during the annual trip to dry-
dock would be considerably less., Failure to flush the Scotch Boilers,
at monthly intervals, would make it necessary to replace them before
many years passed. Already it had been necessary to patch one of the
fire-boxes, and the local steambeat inspe.ter nad ordered it
placed on the ferry's next trip to drydock.

An investigation had disclosed that every ferry route in Xew York
Harbor, cxcept the one to Ellis Island, had an extra, or back-up, boat.
The Governor's Island reute, also operated by the Federal Government,

1 . i
1> (b} Experience had demonstrated that riiws Taland

had two ferryboats.
had to be hauled out of water twice a year to have her hull painted.
During one of these trips to drydock, she was usually laid-up for about
30 days for repairs to her machinery. It was becoming increasingly
difficult to charter boats to replace kilis Island during these periods.
In addition, the vessels chartered were generally poor substitutes.12
{e) Finally, the ferry crossing was dangerous, especially in the winter,
when there was ice and fog, and "common prudence' required that there

should be a substitute boat, readily available, should an emergency

dcvelop.13

11. Memorendum, Commissioner to Secrebary, 1913, NA, RGES, File SLlhsq,

12, Ibid. 13, Ibia.
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If Congress were unwilling to appropriate $125,000 for a new
ferryboat, it was thought that perhaps the legislators would be agree-
able to voting $40,000 for the acquisition of Arnar. This craft, a
wooden-hulled vessel, was owned by the Pennsylvania Railroad, and had
been leased on several occasions to the Immigration Service, while
Ellie Teland was tied-up for Tepailrs,

Congress refused to take action on this request, and B.

Uhl, who as Acting Commissiomer had replaced Williams as officer in
charge of the New York Immigration Station, on August 9, 1913, with-
drew the request to have funds for a new ferryboat included in any
future budgets submitted to the legislators. Writing the Commissioner-
General, he admitted that "the necessity is as great today as at any
time previous, and I believe greater, as immigration has been, and is,
heavier than at any time since 1907."" At the same time, Fllig lsland
was "older and less able to withstand the hard useage to which it 15
subjected," It was apparent thet Longress, although “fully advised,™
would net act to correct the situation. Conscquently, "the responsi-
bilities for conditipns which will undoubtedly arise by reason of this
deficiency in our equipment must rest with Cungress.”lh

In 1521 the Immigration Service, in an effort to reduce expenses,

sought to lease Bil{s Island to anyome willing to operate the vessel

1k, Unl te Commissicner-Senersl, Aug. 9, 1913, HA, KB, Fiie S1450.



over her established route. The only bid received would have "cost
more for acceptance than the actual operation” of the boat for Fiscal
Year 1920.1°
Again in 1925, an investigation was made by the Service in an
attempt to reduce operating costs. Om march 3 Secretary of Labor
James J. Davis forwarded to Commissioner-General Husband a memorandum
questioning the advisability of reaquest:ng c. Congress 3118 .
operate Ellis Ieland im Fiscal Year 1926, He asked the Commissioner-
General for "complete details of the operation of this ferry, includ-
ing the pumber of passengers carried by classification as to employees,
immigrants, visitors, etc.; the amount and character of freight; and
the share of the cost, if any, born by steamship companies.” Secretary
Davis would alse like to kmow if this service could be provided through
private contract, and whether visitors to Ellis Island could be churped
for their trangpurtation.16
Commissioner Curran, after checking his statistics, reported on
March 14 that the average number of passengers carried daily by filia
Teland for the eight months ended February 28, 1925, was 3,100, of
this figure 1,000 of the trips were made bty employees of the Immigratiom

Service, 554 by employees of the Public Health Service, 240 by employees

15. Curran to Secretary of Labor, arch 14, 1925, Wa, RGES, File
SL963/25.

16. Davis to Commissioner-General, March 3, 1925, %4, poBS, SLOBGS
258,
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of privilege holders, and 100 by mechanics and laborers in the employ
of various contractors. The difference between this figure, 1,894, and
3,100 constituted immigrants geing to New York and perscns visiting
Ellis Island on official business.

During the same period, 4,000 tons of freight had been transported,
consisting of 610 tons of baggage, 775 tons of commissary stores and
equipment tfor the hospitai, %60 tons fer the commissary contractor,
1,500 tons of construction supplies, and 155 tons of cleansing gear,
bedding, linen, building materials, and stationery for the Immigration
Service.

No share of the cost of operation had been borne by the steam-
ship companies. If thesc companies were te be charged for the

comparatively small number of aliens carried who
arrived on the warious lines (and the prebabilitcy
that the fare could not be i{n excess of five cents),
the counting of such passengers, the rendering of
bills, clerical help and messenger service Involved
. - . would be in excess of the beneficts derived.

Should visitors traveling to and from the island be charged for
transportation, legal complications might be encountered in securing
a charter to operate a ferry. As most of the visitors traveled to
the island to “complete the inspection of aliens who had been detained,
it was to the Service's interest to expedite the completion of their

mission.” To charge a fare would deter some of them from visiting the

island.
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Commissicner Curran was of the opinion that Eliis Ialand was
being operated as economically, for the service rendered, as any of
the New York Harbor ferryboats. His only suggestion as to a possi-
bility of reducing the cost to the Immigration and Maturalization
Service was to call on the Public Health Service “to pay its pro-
portion" of the cost of operation. The Eillis Island llespital, as
the Secretary knew, was referred to as Marine Hospital, and as such
the Public Health Service should be called on "to bear approximately
enc-quarter of the operation of the boat L7

Commissionecr-General flusband on March 28 referred Curran’s sug-
gestion to Dr, Hugh S.Cummings, Surgeon-General, Public Health Ser-
vice, On April 2 Surgeon-General Cummings notified Secrctary Davis
that 'at present, the Appropriations for the Public Health Service
are insufficient to zllow it to participate in the proposed arrange-
ment.'" He would be willing, however, to add an appropriate amount,
$30,000, to the estimates for his Bureauw for the next fiscal year
and submit them to the Director of the Budpet and the Congress.lg

Secretary Davis determined not to press the subject, and the
Immigration and Naturalization Service would be compelled to continue

to fund the expense of operating and maintaining Ellis Isiand.

iT. Curran to Commissioner-Gemeral, Marcn 1h, 1925, HA, RGES,
shats /208,

18, Cummings to Davis, April 2, 1925, NA, RG83%, 5496%9/23B,
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In 1938 there was renewed interest in securing a new ferryboat.
In that year the House Subcommittee on Appropriations, on reviewing
the budget request made by the Department of Labor, observed that the

'"matter of repairs to the ferryboat Ellis Island” had given it con-

siderable concern. Over $500,000 had been spent for repairs on a

craft that had cost, when new, about $100,000. The chairman of the
subcommittee suggested that a study be undertiaxen by the Immi,

and Naturalization Service to determine "the advisability of replacing”
Filis Island with a new vessel less costly to maintain.

The study disclosed that it would be in the intercst of the
government to replace Ellig Jeland, because of the high annual main-
tenance costs., During the last five years, it had bcen found, the
average annual cest of repairs to the vessel had heen $46,000. In
1937, when the ferryboat was last in drydock, the cost of repalirs
had zoomed to over $1{5,000,

It was the recommendation of the Department of Labor that Fliis
Isiand be replaced. To underwrite this project, a "supplemental gsti-
mate of the amount of $500,000 for the construction or purchase of a
Diesel engine steel hull ferryhoat' was rcquested.l9 Before this rec-
emmendation could be acted upon, Warld War II had commenced. The Bur-
eau of the Budget and Congress were deluged with requests to fund pro-

grams of & more immediate and vital nature,

19. Saunders to Dircctor of the Budget, Gect. 28, 1935, Records,
I & 48, ¥ile 55812-T1ZB. GRichardson Saunders was an mssistant To
Secretary of Laber Ferkins.
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CHAFPTER VI

Eliia Island Makes Her Last Run

The Immigration and Maturalization Service en June 14, 1240, had
been transferred from the Department of Labor to the Department of Jus-
tice. fduring the war years, as immigratjon through the Port of New York
declined and all but ceased, Ellis Island became principally a detention
center for family groups of enemy aliens, In 1943 all functions of the
Immigration Service in the New York area, except detention, were con-
centrated in the building at 70 Columbus Avenue, while EITis Island was
kept "us a detention station for aliens." Soon after the end of Worid
War [I, the Attorney General sought to get rid of the expensive facili-
ties at Ellis Island, but failed, In 1953 a study of the preblem of
space indicated that all operations still carried on at Ellis Island
might be hpused in the building at 7¢ Columbus Avenue, The major bene-
fits foreseen were two. "Having all of the functions presently located
at 70 Columbus Avenue integrated with the functions not at Ellig Izland
will add tremendously to the efficient operation of the New York District.™
Also, "of major benefit will be the tremendous money savings that will be ‘

effected by not having to maintain Ellis Island and the ferry." The major
problem involved would be finding quarters for aliens currently detained

on Ellis Island.?! ‘

1. Pitkin, "Ellis Island a5 an Immigrant Depot,”™ pp. 217-225.
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While the Service sought to find new quarters for the detainees,
Filis Island continued to operate. The editors of the New fork Times
in April 1954, learnming that Filis Island would soon have been in ser-
vice half a century, sent one of their reporters, Werner Bamberger, to
do an article on the vessel. Bamberger, impressed with what he saw,
informed his readers on April 18:

If it weren't for the champagne bobtle wrapper on
display in her upper deck cabin, listing the date
and place of her birth, no one would believe that
the ferryboat £11is Island will celebrate her fif-
tieth anniversary of service next month,

The "old lady of the harbor" still looked trim and fit and her
engines pounded out a respectable ten knots, Bamberger watched as

she gracefully swung Into her berth at Whitehall
Street Ferry terminal . . ., a slight breeze whipped
her Stars and Stripes and the flag of the United
Statea lmmigration Service on top deck staffs. Her
vellow and black ventilators, her lmmaculately white
wooden superstructure, trimmed with blue, lent an air
of cheerfullness to the drab and musty ferry slip.

Posted in “the old-fashioned wheelhousc' was Capt, Raymond P. lves,
one of the five master pilots assigned the craft. Ives spoke "with
affection of the 'old gal' he had helped steer for fifteen ycars over
the one-and-a-half-mile course through the tide-swept, and heavily
traveled waters.”

He told the reporter that Ellis Island was "in very pood shape

considering her age and pives us very little trouble." The engincers

kept the half-century-old compound steam engines "in top shape and the
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hull, though patched like an old quilt , . . is as sound as the day
she was built,"
In her career Zilis Island had logged an estimated 500,000 miles,
although she never 'strayed from her short but scenic run." Before
World War 1, in the days of unrestricted immigration, as many as 5,000
prospective American c¢itizens rode her daily from Ellis Tsland to the
Battery to begin a new life in the United States, By April 1554, only
1,700 to 2,000 people, mostly povernment employees, used her each day.
Outside of Federal employees, most of her passengers now consisted of
persons sent to the island for clarification of their immigrant status
or those awaiting deportation proceedings. As of the secend week of
April 1954, there were 315 persons on the island belonging to these
categories,

In 1954 Captain Ives estimated thal a vessel similar to Ell:is
Taland would cost $700,000.°

In November 1954 a new detention policy went into effect, under
which "only those aliens likely to abscond and those whose release
would be inimical to the national security" were to he detained. "Many
aliens whose papers were not in order,' it was reported, "were pre-
viously detained at Ellis Island and other facilities. Under the pre-
sent policy mest aliens with purély technical difficulties are allowed

to proceed to their destinations under parcle.”

2. New York Times, April 18, 195k,
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This humanitarian ruling soon brought the history of Ellis island
as an Immigration Station to a close. The Island was vacated and de-
clared excess on November 3, 1954.3 The ferryhoat £lliz Islgnd, having
logged over 1,300,000 miles, made her last rum on Movember 29, 1054, to the
deserted facilities at Ellis Island, In contrast to May 5, 1904, when
she arrived in New York Harbor under fair skies and light variable winds,
a strong westerly wind kicked up white caps on the Upper Bay. -

Tves was at the wheel, as she headed put of No. 7 slip at Whitehall
S5treet on her final run.

Seventeen minutes later--two minutes off the regular time for the
run, because of strong head winds--Captain Ives maneuvered his vessel
into the slip at the eastern end of Ellis Island, Two deckhands leaped
ashore to make her fast. One of the few passengerTs aboard for the final
run was Edward J. Shaughnessy, arvea District Directer of Immigration and
Naturalization. Shaughnessy told a reporter for the New York Iimes that
the "boat had carried 15,000,000 passengers, of whom 2,000,000 were
immigrants."

A Coast Guard patrol boat returned the crew and passengers of
Flliz Island to Whitehall Street, Six guards detailed to make round-
the-clock security patrols of Ellis Island were charged with keeping

k
an eve on the old ferryboat.

3. Pitkin, "Ellis Tsland as an Immigration Depot,” SeS_2Eh,

Y, New York Times, Kov. 30, 193k.
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furing the period, 1954-1965, while General Services Administra-
tion was responsible for Ellis Island, maintenance on the craft was
minimal, Once a ycar a crew would hoard Filis Island and pump the
bilges “removing about a 5-foot depth of water." This water appar-
ently seeped through started seams and faulty piping. After the
National Park Service assumed responsibility for Ellis Island and the
ferryboat in May 1965, even less attention was paid to maintenance
of Ellis Island. She was pumped once, in the autumn of 1967. By Aug-
ust 1968 considerable water had again accumulated in the bilges, and
plans were made by the New York City Group of the National Park Ser-
vice to pump her again, Before this could be donc, Ellis Island,on
the weekend of August 14-11, 1968, sank at her berth.

News that the historic boat had sunk was telephoned to the North-
east Repional Office by Superintendent Henry Schmidt of the Mew York
City Group on the 1Z2th, In response te this information, the Regional
(Office sent Regional Chief of Maintenance Nathan B. Golub to New York
on August 22 to make an inspection and submit a repnrt.5

Golub was accompanied te the site by members of the Park Staff,
He found

at high tide the lower corner of the upper deck
would be awash. This subjects the wooden super-

5, Memorsrdum, Gelub to Regional Director, Aug. 26, 1368, a copy
of Joluk's memorandum is found in the files of QANF.
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structure to the destructive force of wave uctiom.
Although the wood superstructure is already very
punky and completely useless in ite present condi-
tiom . . ., it is still availlable for the measure—
ments that will be esgential If the ferry is to be
rehabilitated. Hewever, In its present state, the
superstructure will probably be destroyed and swept
away within a year.

Golub feit that if the woodwork were to be preserved, the vessel
must be refleated, But before this could be dome, the Service must
learn the extent of damage "so that we can estimate the cost o1 ie-
pairs necessary to refloat” the craft. To rehabilitate Filia Taland,
Golub believed three steps were necessary: {a) investigate the reason
for the sinking and extent of damage; (b)] refloat the vessel and make
emergency repairs; and f{c) rehabilitate the entire craft in conformity

. . &
with the use proposed in the Master Plan.

A contract was sighed by the New York City Group with Internaticnal
Underwatetr Contractors, Inc., to have "a qualified diver" investigatc the

T fOn Sep-

hull and see if he could ascertain the cause of the sinking.
tember 12 a team of IUC divers visited Eilis Tzlund, and found the hull
rested three-fourths im the mud and the vessel listed 15-20 degrees. The
crew chief, after examining the superstructure, decided it would be un-
safe to have one of his people make an interior investigation. The men

sent down to inspect the hull's exterior found a hole 53" x 1Y, seven

feet below the maindeck flange, on the sturboard forequarter.

&, Ibid.

T. Memorandum, Palmer to Supt. NYCG, Sept. 3, 1960, files CAEF.
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Plates about the hole were "badly deteriorated,” This hole, it was
reported, “could be one of the causes or the sole cause of" her sinking.

IUC agreed with Golub that the wooden superstructure was in “wery
tad condition because of age and water damage." Most of the water dam-
age was ''caused by the continuous wave action from passing boats, bad
weather, etc." 1f the superstructure were carefully removed, it could
be preserved and divers permitted to make "a safe and thorough inspec-
tion of the craft's interior.

Superintendent Schmidt, when he forwarded the report of the examin-
ation made by IUC to Regional Director, Northeast, reported that it was
doubtful "the decks and superstructure will remain attached to the hull
over a period of winter storms and continucus tide action." MoTreover,
he felt that New York City and State authorities, charged with respon-
3ibility fer hartbor safety, would complain about debris from the super-
structure littering the harbor.

Schmidt recommended that historical architects be called upon "to
secure detailed sketches, measurements, and photographs of the super-
structure," WNext, a decision on the removal of the superstruclure was

needed, This would involve the obligation of funds.?

8, Cooper to McClanshan, Sept. 18, 1968, files OAdP. Ray Cooper
glgned the Zetter enclesing the report made by TUC divers, while L. F. -
MeClanahan is Asst, Supt, HYCGO,

9. Schnidt %o Regional Director, Northeast, Sepi. 27, 1968, files
UAHT .
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Regional Chief of Maintenance Golub, on reviewing IUC's report and
Schmidt's covering memorandum, agreed that the next step should be "to
acquire architectural data on the superstructure as quickly 2s possible.”
Preserving the steel hull, since it was not as fragile, was not as ur-
gent. An ideal solution would be to program sufficient funds "to prop-
erly achieve the entire job," but a temporary and acceptable alterna-
tive would be to remove "the superstructure for subsequent sv... g
available funds," Current fiscal limitations obviated the preject's
inclusion in the Region's 1970 Fiscal Year program. The superstructure,
however, could not wait until 1970 FY. He therefore recommended that
the Chief, Office of Archeclogy and Historic Preservation, "be immedi-
ately apprised of this project and its urgency,"lﬂ'

On October 10 Regicnal Director Lemuel A. Garrison forwarded to
The Director a Tequest for assistance from the Office of Archeclapy
and Wistoric Preservation. On doing so, he stressed the “urgency of
initiating action if we expect to salvage the 'Ellis Island’ and col-
iect reliable data as a basis for restoration. "

The situation became more critical at the end of October, when
"a large portion of the exterior siding of the main deck was Jost to

12

the elements. Regional Director Garrison on November 3 forwarded

10. Golub to Regional Direetor, NE, Qet. 2, 1508, files OAHF.
1l. Garriscn to Director, Oct. 10, 1968, riles OAHP.

12. MeClanahan to Regional Director, “orthesst, Oct. 31, 1968,
files GAHP.
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this information to The Director, alang with a request for "advice on
how we may still save or retain portions of this historic vessel L3

Associate Director Edward Hummel zccordingly asked the Office of
Archeolopy and Historic Preservation for an evaluation of the historie
significance of FIlie Island., This had to be considered and determined
in the context of the boat's significance to the story of immigration
and Ellis lsland. <Congress had determined that the Service should ad-
minister and develop the Island and its histeric and recreation resources
for the benefit of the American people. It was determined that the pre-
servation of Flifs Island was as "important to presenting and interpret-
ing the story of immigration in the United States as any building or
other structure on the Island itself,”lh

1t was pointed out by Dr. Ernest Allen Conmally, Chief, Office of
Archeolopgy and Historic Preservation, that the first and immediate
responsibility of the Service was to salvage the hoat so she couid be
“"studied and data obtained that will permit its faithful restoratiom or
reconstruction, as future studies may determine to be feasible and de-
sirable.” To accomplish this, '"the Service should pruvide emergency
funds within the limits of its capability to accemplish that purpose.”

This decision would be left up to management,

13. GCarriscn to Director, Nov. §, 1962, files DJAHF,

14. Connally to Director, Nov. 29, 1968, files QAHP. Dr, Ernest
t1len Connally is Chief, Office of Archeology & Historic Preservation.

B5



To provide technical data to assist in this cbjective, and pend-
ing & decision by management, Dr. Connally took two steps: first,
he sent Joseph Watterson, Chief, Division of Historic Architecture,
and Henry Judd, Chief, Branch of Preservation, to New York on tecem-
ber ? to meet with Nat Golub and Superintendent Schmidt to study the
boat's conditionl? . and second, Historian Edwin C, Bearss was assigned
to prepare a Tesearch report on Eilia fziunga for "the purpese - Jaoar
bling all the known documentary data relating to its construction his-
tory and its use by the United States Immigration Service.™

An on-site inspection of the vessel was made by Wattersom, Judd,
and Golub, along with Assistant Superintendent McClanahanm, Historian
Fenton, and Engineer Wolfe of the New York City Croup. They found
that Fllfe Island was being quickly "divested of its wood superstruc-
ture by the water action in the harbor." Since Golub's Avgust 22 visit
ralmost the entire lower deck' had been ¢leared of "wood members and
now shows only the structural steelwork."

The group estimated that at least 90 perceat of the superstructure
was “"beyond salvage as interpretable, usable materjal.” They were in
agreement that any expenditure for temporary emeTrgency repaiTs "would

be wasted inasmuch as the remaining fabric could, and probably would,

15, Ibid.
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be wasted inasmuch as the remaining fabric could, and probably would,
fail very shortly." It was felt by the group that the $400,000 esti-
mated cost for rehahilitating the boat "might exceed the cost of re-
construction that would serve the same purpose ags an exhibit in place,”
While it was recognized that Ellis Islamd should be included as a part
of the Ellis Island story, it was agreed that she would be assigned
"the luwest prierity in the very costly construction program.' If
funds sheuld become available for the boat's reconstruction, the pro-
ject could be programmed. Meanwhile, basic data for this work would
be assembled from which plans and specifications could be drawn.

It was rccommended that: (a) plans to rchabilitate Ellis Island
be abandoned, The Park would construct a floating boom to confinc
the debris, (b) The Office of Archeclogy and Historic Preservation
would imitiate a field study of the vessel to include photographs,
sketches, and measured drawings. (¢} When all data had been collected,
a contract should be let to remove Eilis Island, Prior to demolition,

anything that could be used as an interpretive device would be salvaged.l6

16. Golub ta Regional Director, Dec. 3, 1968, files OAMHP.
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CHAPTER VII

Statement of Significance

The ferryboat Ellis Island for 50 years, except when drydocked,
transported immigrants from Ellis Island to the United States and
put them "ashcre on our land--their future hew.. and ceuntry.” 7 ¢
were at least 12,000,000 of them durimg the years 1904-1954. fllis
Ialand was the means by which these future citizens first reached the
American mainland. From her decks they stepped ashore into the land
of their choosing. Consequently, the craft would have been inportant
in interpreting the story of Ellis Island and Immigration. It was only
when the immigrant landed at the Barge Office slip that hc was in the
land of his dreams, America.

The loss of the vessel has deprived the Service of 2 wvaluable
historical object. [f funds should be programmed at some future date,
it would be possible to reconstruct Fliis Island , because such a re-
construction would conform to guidelines governing reconstructjons laid
down in Administpative Folicies for Historical Areas of the National
Park Service. These guidelines are: (a) all traces of the structure
(objeet) have disappeared and its recreatien is essential for public
understanding and appreciation of the historicel associations for which
the area was established: (b) there is sufficient historical and archi-

tectural data to permit an accurate restoration; and {c) theo structure

(object)} can be rebuilt in a significantly appropriate area setting.
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APPENDIX A
Specification for a Screw Two-Deck Stecl Hull Ferry Boat, For

U. 5. Immigration Commission Ellis Island, To Be Built by the
Harian &§ Hollingsworth Company, Wilmington, Delaware, etc,
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SPECTFICATION
For &
SCREW TWO-DECK STEEL HULL
FERRY BOAT,
For
U.5. IMMIGRATION COMMISSION
ELLIS ISLAND
To Be Built By

THE HARLAN & HOLLINGSWORTH COMPANY
Wilmington, Dclaware

[Property of Bethlehem Steel Corp.
Bethlemen, Pa.]

Press of
Mercantile Printing Company,
Wilmington, Del,
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SPECHTFICATION

e SPECIFICATION
Screw Two - Deck Steel Hujt —rae s
— -
Ferry Boat, Screw Two = Declc Steel Hull
-erane Ferry Hoat.
U.S. Immigration Commission, S
ELLIS ISLAND, DIRENSIONS.
Lengthoverali o 0 . . . . _1fisft
Fin 2 'Ly hy
Lengih over stem posts . . . . rgg It
THE WEPLEY & KOLLINGSWORTN DORIRY Beatm of hulb st deck . . . . . a7t
WILMINGTOMN,. DILAWARE. Beam overguards . . . . . . . 45 M,

Depth at eenter to top of beams . 15 ft. 3 in,
Crown of deck beams . . . 6inm 45 M.

Bpeed—VYessel to be capable of stearing not
less than 12 statute miles per hour in service.

WEREAWTLE P MmT e EOMPRANY, General Deseription—Al plates and shapes
of hull and cenler house to Le steel,

W EL i T, L,
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To have one cabin on main deck, and cne
cabin 20 upper deck entered by stairsay [rom
main deck,  Arranged so that passengers may
get on and off a1 main deck,

Engines to be two eylinder surface condensing
cempound, working a screw at each end of
wessel,

Boilers to be of Scotch type, 135 s, work-
ing pressure, wilh one smooke stack.

To b stecred by steaniand hand pear at each

end ol vessel.

Keed and Center Meelsou—To be a cou-
tinuous vertical plate, 42 in. deep and 174 lhs
Ter e ft. thick, in as long lengths as possilile,
Giled between coliision bulkheads. To hawve
dovbie bult strags, 23 Tbs. per 3. ft., treble
riveted.  This plate to extend 6 in. below base.
To bave two side bars, 6 in. deep and 5o ks,
;'n:r s, ft. wt., one on each side, secured by
countersunk rivels driven Aush,

A solid Dbar keed, 6in. by zin., to be Otted
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between onds of plate keet and stern frames, o
be scarphed for side bars and cod posts,
foelson 1o be conpected to Jouble bettom
plates by two 4 in % 3 x 817 Ih. angles in as
long lengihs a5 possible, the butts to have angle
straps to have limber hole cut through keelson

in every frame space.

Double Botton—Ta have double bottor
36 inches detp at cenmire estonding betwzen
collision bulkheads, this to be used for ited
water instead of semarate tanks, to hold about
ATEds
rx=—= gallons ; wop plates 1o be 15 Ibs, per sq.
fr. and margin plates 12 b=, per sq. ., lower
pert atrached to skl plating by 3x 3 x 7.2 1bs
anples. Laps to be single riveted and butts
double riveled.  Each eod of double bottom to
be marde into a jeed tank fuy Poiler use, by
Biting a walertight Roor, Teew sluice valve}
fuarcd jw each vk end.
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Frames—3¥ in. x 3 in. x 7.9 1% phin
angles spaced zy in. centers Detwzen coflision
belkheads and 15 in. centers beyond bulkheads.
To extend in Gie length from margin plate to

deck siringer, g +3 E 2

Frames tn double bottom, stf——tdiscm
lbs. angles.

Reverse Frames—z23 in. x 232 in. X 5.1
lin. plain anples, every alternate batr 1o extend
along top of floors wdeck, and the irtermediate
oncs 10 5 ins. beyond bilge keelson. To be
double under engings and boilers, the eitra re-
verse frame to extend to bilge keslson.

Floors—COa every frame 340 in. decp double
botom and 15 1ba. per sg. £t weighi, to be in-
ereased in depth at cach end aud to be 32 1o
per sq- [k, wicer engines and at boiler saddles,
Fo be zecured to centre keelson hy doubic

angles 3 i & 3 i x 7219, Lightueing holes
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tobe cut in each floor, and pecestary limber
fules. Floors sttached te double boitom and
surpinal plates by siogle 254 in. x 234 in. x
5.1 [bs. angles.

Delt Frames—Four per side, 54 in. wide x
£23¢ 1bs. faced with double 24 in. x zH in x
5.1 1b. angles in one length. Joints 1o have
treble riveted butt straps.,

Etern Frames—Of cast sicel, in two plecss,
and scarphed if found desirable, the propeller
post to be 6in x 4io. Heels extending into
veszel 1o be 6 ft. long, cnds to Le scarphed 22
in. for connecting to keel; the tudder post o
6in x 314; theend pcitobe bin. x 3 in. as

shown on pian,

Budiers—Two of caxt steel, stocks 45 in.
in diameter. One pintle at bottom,

PN £ ;o
I:-‘r;__.-{"-f_,-f _./ :aLa_-;_.{f_.__,l .

.
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Dok Beams—s; in. x 3im x 11,2 1bs. angles
an every frame connscted to frame by gusset
plates 28 in. x 1Ein. = 12f5 I At bulkiizad
bearns to be double 35 in % 3 in. % 7.9 1b
angles. Altsroate beams to be continuous from
guard to guard, to be collared where they pass
thrangh sheer srake.

Bister Xeplsons—COne each side, 4 in. x 3
in. x B} b, engles, continopus aleng top of
figors.

Bilze Heelsons—One each side, 4in. x 3
in. x 834 Ib. continuous double angles, riveted
back 10 back,

Stringers—Onse cach side, 4 in.x 3m. x 833
lb. angles, double, continuous, riveted Lack to
back.

Keelsons to exiend as far inte endsz of wessc)
18 possible and end in breast hooks where prac-

56
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ticable. Keelsons to be bracketed to watertight
buikheads, and not to be Tun throgh them,

Shell Plating—Sheer strake to be 1734 Ibs.

per sg. It

Water line strake 1734 1bs. and for distance
of thirty feel from cach end to be ineressed to
22 lbs.  Bides, bilge and beottom, 15 lbs.

Garbpard to be 1724 Ths,

Flzting t0 be arranged inside end pwmside al-
ternately  with solid liners between ouiside
sttakes and frames. At bulkheads the liners to
be diamoad shape extending far cnough from
each side of frame 1o get in row of rivets.

The taindings generally to b single riveted ;
the garuoard to boitom and sheer to sides to be

double tiveted, FHuoiis to be lapped and treble
rivetad.

Main Siringer—To ke 65 in. wide and 713
Ibs. thick, eonnected to sheer sirake by apple
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bar 5in x 3in= 7.2 1bs.  Botls of stringer to
be lapped and treble riveted.

Deck Tie Pletea—Cne at each side of cen-
tre house; 24 io. x 15 lbe, te extend to deck
plating at each end.

Deck Plaiing—-In way of the boilers deck
ta be covered with 734 lh. plates.

Guards —The lowsr rim plate to be 1o in
wide 215 1bs. The face plale to be 12 i, deep
% 15 Ibs., secured to stringer by continuous 3 in.
x 3 in. x 7.2 1b. angles at twp and bettom, and
to ends of beams by clips.

The guard brace to bk 234 in. diameter,
solid, secured lo beams and shell plating by
forged head and fect, Aanges of each to he of
suitable size lor 4 3§ 0. vivets; these Pwaces to
be fitted on every other guard beam.

a7

10

Bulkheads—To have five watertight.  The
watertight bulkheads to be made of 1o1b. plates,
To be stifened vertically by 353 in. X 3in.x 7.9
1. angles, spaced z4 in. aparl, and horizontal-
Iy be 314 in. x 3 ip. x 7.9 1b. angles 48 in. apart.
The frames of rhese bulkheads to be double.
Each butkhead to hav '
bedemr and a hinged wateriight door.

Feclions to be firmly bracketed at each side
of buikheads instead of yunning through,

Ridge Bars—One double 4 in x 3 in x .
B35 Ib. angle ridge bar to be ftted on each side,
secured to deck beams by angle clips r=im long
of pin. x 3ie x §.z b, angles, hr"

Stanchlons—To be fitted urder ridge bars,
and at centre where praeticable, of 3 to. exira
heavy wrought iton pipe having inalleable cast
heads and feet.
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Livetipg-—TTe keel and side bars to e at-
tached by asingle reaw of g in. rivcts spaced
about 25 in. ceatres. The garhoard to be donble
riveted to keel. Stern frames to be double rivet-
ed. Landings of sheer strake to side plating
double riveted and garboard to bottom plates
ta he double riveted ; remainder of lanﬂingﬂ
single riveted. Shell butts lapped and treble
riveted.

RicelInspection Clanses—Flates 1o beof
open hearth steel of about fo,o0n0 Phe tensile
strengih, with eloogation in 3 inches, of 2o pet
cent. N

Angles of mild stzel to stand bending under
a hammer cpld pntil the teo edpes meet o
opening 1o zn angle of 14o degrees without
showing ciack or Raw.

Rivets of mild tough stezl having tensile
strenpth of so,o00 10 55,oo0 1bs. per sg. in.,
each capable of being doubled back on itseif
cald without cracking.
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Eugin Foundulion—Doolle bottam 12 Le
strenmihencd in way of engine Ledplue, and i
necessary the top plating to be hollowed out i
way of connecting rods, st Foandation y-lat-
ing tu L= 23 lbs. persg. It subrtantizily riveted.

Boiter Saddles —To be built of plates and

anglas amply strong and of shape as may te te-
quired.

Thrust aué Pedestul Foundations- -Bailt
up of piates and angles 33 may be necessary.

Coul Bnokers--To cottaio alwutifta;u of
eoal.  Bulkheud o be of 1 b, plates with 3
in, x 3 in. x 7.2 angle stifeners where necessary,
spaced za in. apart. Tohavetwo 17 in. cast iron
caaling scultles on each side of main deck,
necessary slatied dnors io hre ruoms. Bottams of
bunk:rs to be laid with 2 in. yellow pine,

89

13

Conter Honse—O7 s102l, over engines and
boilers, Detween main zod cabin decks, and
over boiters above cabin dock.  Main deck
coamings to be 12 in. deep v 10 b secured to
tic plates Ly 3 in. % 3 400 x 7.2 1boangles. Sides
of house 1o ke & Jbs. per sg. fr. from main to
cabin deck anil 6 los. from cabin deck to2love
torricane deck.  To be plated vertically and
stifiened by "l'ee bars 4 in. x 2)4 in. x 6.4 1bs.
At the level of the cabin deck saitalle brackets
of plates 2nd angles are to be riveted to house
for supporting the wood ridge bars and carline.
A steel Luikhead dividing engine and boiler

spaces 1o be run up inside house froes mmain to

¢ hurricanc decks.  Mroessary hinged steel dowoes

to be fited al each side fur aceess to engine and
badler reoia. IDoors 1o have brass Tegks and
hinges.

Rwlder Cacrier, Eie.—~Weight of rudder
t: be taien on cast iron baze plate hroody boteed
o fuuntain plate balit in vesszl.  To have com-
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osition ring with latge surface, stock to he
grooved for the cast iron collars.  Av iron
zasting to be fitted on the deck above rudder
stock and an eye bolt screwed into ead of stock
for handling rodder.

Gag Ping—Ta be arranged to wotk in hate
provided in gquadraats.  An iron casting to be

fitted at deck with portable plant for handling
pibs.

Quadrants—Of cast stecl, secured Lo stocks
®ith two keys. The quadrants e be arranged

for gag pins.

':?r"/'#éiﬁ’t - m-w'M{-L:-l-e
Steam , Btecrlng (lear—A, steam stesring
engine of suitable siz¢ to e placed at each end
of wesel gnder pilot houses, connected by

vertical shafts and cut gears to hand wheeldi

ATt tTifameter; the columps and pears in

pilor house to be of brass.  Aranged so that

1